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QUESTIONS PRESENTED

This Court has held for over a century that the 
Fourteenth Amendment protects the right of parents to 
control and direct the education of their children. But other 
than protecting the decision to choose private educational 
options for a child, the Court has not determined what it 
means to “direct” the education of one’s child. Importantly, 
this Court has yet to answer directly whether the right to 
educate one’s child is fulfilled by the choosing of a public 
or private school—a question over which the circuit courts 
are split. This case therefore presents two interconnected 
questions, including one involving a circuit split: 

1.  Whether the fundamental constitutional right of 
parents to control their children’s education is limited to 
the right to select a school—as the court below held—or 
whether parents continue exercising that right even once 
they have chosen to send their child to a public school, as 
the Third Circuit has held.

2.  Whether there should be a more generalized 
clearly established requirement for government employees 
who have plenty of time to reflect on the constitutionality 
of their actions than the clearly established requirement 
that applies to cases involving law enforcement officers 
making split-second, life-or-death decisions.
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PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDINGS  
AND RULE 29.6 STATEMENT

Petitioner Rebecca Hartzell was the plaintiff in the 
Arizona District Court and appellant in the Ninth Circuit. 

Respondents are Marana Unified School District, a 
governmental entity organized and existing under the laws 
of the State of Arizona, Andrea Divijak, principal of Dove 
Mountain School in the Marana Unified School District, 
and Joseph Divijak husband of Andrea Divijak and sued 
only for community property purposes. Respondents were 
defendants and appellees below. 

Because no Petitioner is a corporation, a corporate 
disclosure statement is not required under Supreme Court 
Rule 29.6.
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RELATED PROCEEDINGS

The case arises from the following proceedings:

Hartzell v. Marana Unified School District, No. 
23-4310, 9th Cir. (Mar. 5, 2025) (affirming grant of 
summary judgment of Petitioner’s First Amendment 
retaliation claim against Respondent Divijak, reversing 
the judgment as a matter of law granted to Respondent 
Marana Unified School District on Petitioner’s First 
Amendment retaliation claim against the District, and 
reversing summary judgment granted to Respondent 
Divijak on Petition’s defamation claim).

Hartzell v. Marana Unified School District, No. CV-
21-00062-TUC-SHR, D. Ariz. (July 24, 2023) (Denying 
Petitioner’s motion to amend complaint to add a First 
Amendment claim to her procedural due process claim 
but granting Petitioner’s motion to amend complaint to 
add Respondent Joseph Divijak for purposes of securing 
a judgment against marital property).

Hartzell v. Marana Unified School District, No. CV-
21-00062-TUC-SHR, D. Ariz. (Mar. 9, 2023) (Granting 
Respondent’s motion for Summary Judgment with 
respect to the First Amendment retaliation claim against 
Respondent Divijak and with respect to the procedural 
due process claim).

There are no other proceedings in state or federal 
trial or appellate courts, or in this Court, related to this 
case under Supreme Court Rule 14.1(b)(iii).
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OPINIONS BELOW

The March 5, 2025, opinion of the Court of Appeals, 
reported at 130 F.4th 722 (9th Cir. 2025), is set out at App. 
1a-47a. The March 9, 2023, opinion of the district court, 
reported at 2023 WL 2425009 (D. Ariz. 2023), is set out 
at App. 48a-78a. The July 24, 2023, opinion of the district 
court, reported at 2023 WL 4707064 (D. Ariz. 2023), is 
set out at App. 79a-95a.

JURISDICTION

The decision of the Court of Appeals was entered on 
March 5, 2025. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 
28 U.S.C. § 1254(1). The district court had jurisdiction 
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS INVOLVED

United States Constitution, First Amendment:

Congress shall make no law respecting an 
establishment of religion, or prohibiting the 
free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom 
of speech, or of the press; or the right of the 
people peaceably to assemble, and to petition 
the Government for a redress of grievances.

Reproduced at App. 96a.

United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, 
Section 1:
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All persons born or naturalized in the United 
States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, 
are citizens of the United States and of the 
State wherein they reside. No State shall 
make or enforce any law which shall abridge 
the privileges or immunities of citizens of the 
United States; nor shall any State deprive any 
person of life, liberty, or property, without due 
process of law; nor deny to any person within 
its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Reproduced at App. 96a.

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS 
FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

Petitioner Rebecca Hartzell was indefinitely banned 
from the Dove Mountain K-8 School in the Marana 
Unified School District in Arizona. She was prohibited 
from entering campus and speaking to school employees, 
including her children’s teachers after an interaction 
with the school principal (Respondent Andrea Divijak). 
This incident began with a school event in February 
2020 where students were to present projects to their 
parents, teachers, and other students; projects they had 
been working on for some time. App. 6a. Unfortunately, 
two of Hartzell’s children were scheduled to present in 
different classrooms simultaneously. Frustrated that she 
would have to choose which child’s presentation to attend, 
Hartzell spoke privately with Principal Divijak before 
the presentation began in a classroom in which one of her 
children and another parent were present. App. 6a.
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During the conversation, Hartzell sarcastically 
“thanked” Divijak for forcing her to choose which child 
to support. When Divijak sought to end the conversation 
and walk away, Hartzell unintentionally touched Divijak’s 
arm. App. 6a-7a. Respondent Divijak responded to this 
by instructing her staff to call the police to investigate 
Hartzell for assult, filing criminal assault charges against 
Hartzell (which were later dismissed), and issuing an 
immediate and indefinite “no-trespass” order barring 
Hartzell from campus indefinitely—which means she 
cannot pick up her children from school or even converse 
with her children’s teachers. App. 7a. That order is the 
source of this litigation. 

Petitioner sued both the District and Divijak, alleging 
that this order was unconstitutional First Amendment 
retaliation, designed to punish her for her years of speech 
and advocacy regarding the School District’s policies. And 
the Ninth Circuit agreed that a jury could reasonably find 
that Respondent District banned Hartzell from campus 
because of her speech. App. 23a. 

The court, however, granted qualified immunity to 
Divijak, foreclosing Hartzell’s claim against her. App. 
36a-37a. Hartzell also brought a procedural due process 
claim asserting that the no-trespass order violated her 
parental rights by limiting her ability to directly oversee 
the education of her children. The Ninth Circuit rejected 
this claim on the grounds that the parental right to control 
a child’s education extends no further than the right to 
choose a school for one’s child. App. 39a-41a.

Hartzell asks this Court for certiorari to revive two 
of her claims: (1) a claim against Respondent District 
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for violating her procedural due process rights; and (2) a 
claim against Respondent Divijak for First Amendment 
retaliation due to Divijak causing Hartzell to be banned 
from school property—the claim for which Divijak was 
granted qualified immunity. 

First, for Hartzell’s due process claim: Hartzell 
claimed that being banned from school property violates 
the Fourteenth Amendment’s due process clause because 
she was not presented with a real opportunity to challenge 
the ban. The lower courts, however, held that Hartzell 
“had no constitutional right to access school property” in 
the first place, so therefore “no procedural due process 
was required.” App. 67a. The Ninth Circuit affirmed, on 
the grounds that a parent’s right to control and direct 
the education of her children is limited to determining 
whether to send a child to a public or private school. 
App. 39a. This, however, is too narrow a reading of this 
fundamental right.

Parents have a fundamental right to control and direct 
the upbringing and education of their children. Pierce v. 
Soc’y of Sisters, 268 U.S. 510, 534-35 (1925). This is the 
oldest right to be recognized as “fundamental” and is 
included within the Fourteenth Amendment’s protection 
for “liberty.” Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 65 (2000). 
This right is a “counterpart of the responsibilities 
[parents] have assumed.” Lehr v. Robertson, 463 U.S. 
248, 257 (1983). As parents have a “high duty” to 
prepare children for adulthood, including a child’s future 
interpersonal relationships and civic responsibilities, they 
have a right not to be obstructed or interfered with when 
discharging those responsibilities. Pierce, 268 U.S. at 535. 
This Court has repeatedly upheld parental rights over 
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states’ attempts to interfere with their choices. See, e.g., 
Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205, 232 (1972); Mahmoud 
v. Taylor, 145 S. Ct. 2332 (2025).

Yet the court below said that this right diminished 
greatly with the selection of a school—which effectively 
means that once a parent chooses to send a child to a public 
school, that school no longer has to consider the right of 
parents to direct the education of their children. In other 
words, although this Court has said that students do not 
“shed their constitutional rights … at the schoolhouse 
gate,” Tinker v. Des Moines Independent Community 
School District, 393 U.S. 503, 506 (1969), the court below 
held that parents’ fundamental constitutional rights do 
end at the schoolhouse gate. In essence, students get more 
rights than their parents. 

That simply cannot be the case. The no-trespass 
order drastically intrudes on Hartzell’s constitutionally 
protected parental rights. She was banned from picking 
up her children from school and, when the school did allow 
her to pick up her preschooler, it was on the condition that 
she did not speak to anyone while doing so—including her 
children’s teachers. This is not a general restriction placed 
on other parents, but one directed exclusively at Hartzell. 
It was imposed because of her speech. And it dramatically 
hinders her ability to supervise her children’s education, 
upbringing, and even physical safety. 

Second, regarding the qualified immunity defense 
to Hartzell’s claim of First Amendment retaliation: The 
Ninth Circuit held that a reasonable jury could conclude 
that Hartzell was banned because of her speech (not the 
incidental contact) and that this would constitute a form 
of First Amendment retaliation. App. 32a. Nevertheless, 
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Divijak was granted qualified immunity. App. 34a. 
This conclusion raises the general unfairness of today’s 
qualified immunity jurisprudence, which stands contrary 
to the original constitutional understanding regarding 
governmental liability.1 It also raises a narrow question 
only this Court can answer: whether a government official, 
like a school principal, who is not a law enforcement officer 
acting on the spur of the moment, but a government 
employee engaged in the routine application of daily 
procedures, and enjoying plenty of opportunity to reflect 
on the legality of her actions, is entitled to the same 
qualified immunity as the patrolman or sheriff’s deputy 
who is “forced to make split-second judgments—in 
circumstances that are tense, uncertain, and rapidly 
evolving.” Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 397 (1989).

As Justice Thomas observed in Hoggard v. Rhodes, 
it makes little sense that school officials “who have time 
to make calculated choices about enacting or enforcing 
unconstitutional policies” should “receive the same 
protection as a police officer who makes a split-second 
decision to use force in a dangerous setting[.]” 141 
S. Ct. 2421, 2422 (2021) (statement regarding denial of 
certiorari). This case squarely presents that question. 

1.   See, e.g., Little v. Barreme, 6 U.S. (2 Cranch) 170 (1804); Wise 
v. Withers, 7 U.S. (3 Cranch) 331 (1806); Mitchell v. Harmony, 54 
U.S. (13 How.) 115 (1851); Bates v. Clark, 95 U.S. (5 Otto) 204 (1877). 
In cases like these, the Court held that unlawful conduct could not be 
the conduct of the sovereign, and therefore that officials who acted 
unlawfully could not be shielded from accountability. Only toward 
the beginning of the twentieth century did courts invent rules of 
immunity that bar victims of official wrongdoing from obtaining 
redress. See further Pfander & Hunt, Public Wrongs and Private 
Bills: Indemnification and Government Accountability in the Early 
Republic, 85 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 1862 (2010).
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The brief answer is that qualified immunity should not 
apply in the same manner to a school principal engaged 
in her ordinary duties as it does to a law enforcement 
officer in an emergency. Rather, the “clearly established” 
principle—which asks what level of knowledge of the 
constitutional violation the government employee had—
should apply at a higher level of generality in cases such 
as this. Because the usual cop-on-the-beat qualified 
immunity analysis involves a highly fact-specific inquiry 
in a tense and rapidly changing set of circumstances, it 
makes sense that courts would require a showing that the 
officer had violated a very clearly established rule. The 
officer, after all, has little time to “establish” something. 
But a school principal with adequate opportunity to reflect 
and consider her actions also has more time to “establish” 
the rules of the game. It therefore makes little sense to 
treat the two incidents as identical. Yet that’s just what 
the Ninth Circuit did. 

Recognizing the distinction between the two would 
represent only a modest extension of the “obviousness” 
exception to qualified immunity that this Court has 
already recognized. For example, in Hope v. Pelzer, 
this Court explained that qualified immunity does not 
preclude liability in “novel factual circumstances” and 
that the “salient question [is] … whether the state of 
the law … gave respondents fair warning” that the 
conduct was unconstitutional. 536 U.S. 730, 741 (2002). 
This Court added that “obvious cruelty inherent in 
[handcuffing prisoners to a hitching post] should have 
provided respondents with some notice that their alleged 
conduct violated Hope’s constitutional [rights].” Id. at 745 
(emphasis added). Time and circumstances are plainly 
relevant to determining what counts as “obvious” and 
whether the official “should have” known her action was 
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unconstitutional. For that reason, qualified immunity is 
less likely to be proper in circumstances such as these.

This Court should grant this petition to address these 
two important issues.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A.	 Factual History

Petitioner Rebecca Hartzell, Ph.D., is a parent to eight 
children, some of whom receive special education services. 
Five of them attended Dove Mountain—a K-8 school in the 
Marana Unified School District—during the 2019-2020 
school year. App. 3a-4a. Hartzell, who holds advanced 
degrees in special education, and is a professor teaching 
behavioral analysis at the University of Arizona, has long 
been an advocate for her children and for students in the 
district generally. App. 4a. 

During some 15 years in the district, she had raised 
concerns with school officials about the schools’ scheduling 
of events, the lack of air conditioning on school buses, the 
risk that students might access pornography on school 
computers, school policies regarding students speaking in 
the cafeteria, the treatment of students with disabilities, 
and other matters. App. 4a. 

When, in 2019, Dove Mountain was set to open 
for its first year, Hartzell reached out to Respondent 
Andrea Divijak—the new school’s principal—and offered 
assistance, in hopes of improving the quality of educational 
services offered in the district. App. 5a. Divijak rebuffed 
this offer. Id. Hartzell, however, continued to participate 
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actively in the government of her school district by 
advocating for improvements for students and families. Id. 

Naturally, her advocacy sometimes generated 
tensions with school employees, who occasionally regarded 
her as overly demanding. App. 4a. Some teachers used 
demeaning nicknames for Hartzell behind her back, called 
her “nasty,” and told her she was not welcome to volunteer 
at school events. App. 5a. These tensions came to a head 
on February 7, 2020, when Hartzell arrived at school to 
attend an event where students presented projects they 
had been working on for months. App. 6a. Unfortunately, 
two of Hartzell’s children were scheduled to present their 
projects in different rooms simultaneously. Id. This was not 
a new problem; Hartzell had complained about a similar 
incident in December 2019. App. 6a. But Respondent 
Divijak—after asking for Hartzell’s suggestions at that 
time—did not rectify the issue. Id.

Given that history, Hartzell was frustrated and 
sought to speak with Divijak when she saw her at the 
event. Id. Along with one of her children, she approached 
Divijak, in a room where no other children were present, 
and sarcastically “thanked” her for scheduling the event 
in such a way that she would have to choose between 
attending the presentation by one of her children or 
attending the presentation by another. Id. 

Divijak was not interested in having a conversation 
with Hartzell. Id. She attempted to end the conversation 
before it started by leaving the classroom. Id. To do so, 
she had to walk past Hartzell, and this led to inadvertent 
contact between Hartzell’s hand and her own. App. 
7a. Divijak proceeded to leave the room, but shortly 
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thereafter, informed the school’s Associate Principal and 
School Monitor of the incident, and the three decided to 
call the police to report what she deemed an “assault,” 
and also to have Hartzell “no trespassed”—i.e., thrown 
off school property and ordered not to return. App. 50a. 

After Divijak left the room, Hartzell went to see the 
presentation by one of her children. App. 7a. While in 
the room watching that presentation, the School Monitor 
approached Hartzell and, in front of everyone—including 
her children—ordered her to leave immediately. Id. The 
monitor then escorted her out of the building. Id. While 
in the parking lot of the school, Hartzell was approached 
by Marana Police Officer Jerry Ysaguirre who had been 
called on Divijak’s instructions. Id.

Officer Ysaguirre advised Hartzell that she was being 
investigated for assault and that she was “trespassed 
from” school property. Id. The officer further informed 
Hartzell that while her children could continue attending 
Dove Mountain, Hartzell would have to arrange for 
someone else to drop off and pick up her children, as she 
was not allowed on school grounds for any reason. Id. 
Finally, Officer Ysaguirre informed Hartzell that this 
no-trespass order would remain in effect until the district 
decided otherwise. Id. The order was promulgated at the 
request of Respondent Divijak. App. 8a.

Respondent District launched its own investigation 
into the matter. App. 8a. The District’s Safety and Security 
Coordinator, after viewing video from a security camera, 
found no proof that Hartzell grabbed Divijak’s wrist, 
and another parent informed the police that Hartzell did 
not hit, grab, or hold onto Divijak. App. 8a-9a. No doubt 
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as a result of this lack of evidence, the town prosecutor 
dismissed the misdemeanor assault charge that had been 
filed against Hartzell. App. 10a.

Meanwhile, Hartzell requested a meeting with the 
Superintendent to discuss the circumstances behind the 
no-trespass order and to ask that it be lifted. App. 9a. 
Hartzell attended this meeting on February 24, 2020, with 
her husband, her attorney, the Superintendent, and an 
attorney for Respondent District. Id. It was explained to 
Hartzell that the decision to ban her from school grounds 
was final and would remain in place indefinitely. Id. It was 
expressed to Hartzell that the ban had to remain in place 
because lifting it would upset the assistant superintendent 
and Principal Divijak. App. 9a-10a. 

Respondent District, however, did agree to allow 
Hartzell to drop off and pick up only her preschool-age 
child (not her other children) and then only if she did not 
speak to any school employee or official while doing so. 
App. 10a. (Shortly thereafter, schools closed in-person 
activities for the remainder of that academic year due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. App. 52a. Hartzell has since 
then removed all her children from schools overseen by 
Respondent District. Id.)

B.	 Procedural History

Hartzell sued both the District and Divijak in February 
2021. App. 53a. She amended her complaint in April 2021, 
bringing several claims, including defamation claims not 
raised here, and the First Amendment retaliation claim 
and due process claims that are raised here. Id. 
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The district court granted summary judgment to 
Respondent Divijak on the First Amendment retaliation 
claim, on the grounds that she was entitled to qualified 
immunity. App. 64a. Nevertheless, it initially found that 
a reasonable jury could conclude that the reason behind 
the no trespass order was that the school was retaliating 
against Hartzell because of her long history of advocacy. 
App. 59a-60a. The district court later granted the district’s 
motion for a judgment as a matter of law at the close of 
trial on the retaliation claim against the District. App. 3a.

Finally, the district court also ruled against Hartzell 
on her due process claim against the District, holding 
that a parent has no constitutional right to access school 
property, and therefore that no due process was required 
before she was barred from school grounds. App. 67a.

Hartzell appealed, and the court of appeals affirmed 
in part and reversed in part. 

First, it held that the First Amendment retaliation 
claim against the District should have been submitted 
to the jury. App. 22a-23a. A reasonable jury could have 
concluded that Hartzell was banned not because of the 
so-called assault, but because of a District policy that 
forbids “speech … that is offensive or inappropriate.” Id. 
The court held that it would be unconstitutional retaliation 
for the District to exclude Hartzell from campus because 
of her criticism of Divijak, and that Hartzell had presented 
sufficient evidence to allow a jury to conclude that it did 
so. App. 26a-32a.

Second, however, the Ninth Circuit affirmed the 
grant of qualified immunity to Divijak. In its discussion of 
whether the District violated a “clearly established” right, 
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it required Hartzell to offer examples of legal precedents 
holding that retaliation against free speech is “clearly” 
constitutionally prohibited—and, more, to offer examples 
specifically involving public schools. App. 36a-37a. Cases 
from “outside public schools,” it said, “are of limited 
use.” App. 37a. It held that because there was no general 
consensus of precedent that a school principal violates the 
Constitution when she retaliates against a parent because 
of the parent’s protected speech, that right was not clearly 
established. Id. Further, the court held that Hartzell had 
waived arguing the “obviousness” exception to the “clearly 
established” requirement, because she did not raise it in 
her opposition to Respondents’ summary judgment motion 
or in her opening brief before the court. App. 37a-38a.

Third, the court affirmed the grant of summary 
judgment on Hartzell’s procedural due process claim. App. 
38a. While it recognized this Court’s precedents holding 
that parental rights are fundamental, it held that this right 
only—or almost exclusively—includes the right of a parent 
to decide to send her child to a public or private school; 
once that choice is made, the right has been fully exercised. 
App. 39a. In other words, a parent’s fundamental rights 
do not “extend[] beyond the schoolhouse itself.” Id. As a 
result, the banning from school property did “not implicate 
Hartzell’s right to direct her children’s education” and 
“the Meyer-Pierce right does not apply.” Id.2 

2.   The Ninth Circuit rendered its decision on March 5, 2025, 
before this Court’s June 27 ruling in Mahmoud, supra, which quite 
clearly rejects the Ninth Circuit’s theory that the Meyer-Pierce 
right stops at the schoolyard gate. See, e.g., 145 S. Ct. at 2350-51 
(citing Pierce and holding that this right “extends to the choices that 
parents wish to make for their children outside the home.”). For that 
reason alone, this case warrants certiorari. Indeed, this Court should 
consider granting, vacating, and remanding in light of Mahmoud.
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REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

I.	 The Ninth Circuit’s holding entrenches a circuit 
split—between the First, Second, Fifth, Sixth, and 
Tenth Circuits on one hand and the Third Circuit 
on the other—regarding whether the parental 
right to direct the education of a child is more than 
simply the right to choose where to send that child 
to school.

A.	 The lower courts are divided over how broadly 
to read this Court’s precedents declaring 
parental rights a fundamental constitutional 
right.

This Court has held for over a century that parents 
have a fundamental right to control and direct their 
children’s education. Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 
400 (1923); Pierce, 268 U.S. at 534-35. In fact, this Court 
has explained that the right of parents to control and 
direct the education of their children is “perhaps the 
oldest of the fundamental liberty interests” recognized 
in constitutional law. Troxel, 530 U.S. at 65. 

Important as this right is, however, its contours are 
still little appreciated by lower courts. These courts have 
often struggled with the applicability of the parental right 
to educate a child. While it’s clear that a state cannot 
outright ban private schools, or forbid the teaching 
of foreign languages, without running afoul of the 
Fourteenth Amendment’s protections of parental rights, 
lower courts have failed to develop a consistent theory 
regarding the broader implications of this right. This has 
led to a longstanding and entrenched circuit split.
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Most courts have held that the fundamental parental 
right identified in Meyer and Pierce is quite limited: that 
it is restricted, as the court below said, to “the right of 
parents to be free from state interference with their choice 
of the educational forum itself,” App. 39a (quoting Fields 
v. Palmdale School Dist., 427 F.3d 1197, 1207 (9th Cir. 
2005))—and nothing, or virtually nothing, more. Ironically, 
although this Court said that students do not “shed their 
constitutional rights … at the schoolhouse gate,” Tinker, 
393 U.S. at 506, this theory—which is also endorsed by 
the First, Second, Fifth, Sixth, and Tenth Circuits—holds 
that the parents’ fundamental constitutional rights do end 
at the schoolhouse gate. Cf. Mahmoud, 145 S. Ct. at 2350.

As the court below put it, “the Meyer-Pierce right does 
not apply” after the parent has chosen to send the child to 
a public school. App. 39a. That’s because, “once parents 
make the choice as to which school their children will 
attend, their fundamental right to control the education 
of their children is, at the least, substantially diminished.” 
Id. (quoting Fields, 427 F.3d at 1206).

The First Circuit came to a similar conclusion in 
Parker v. Hurley, 514 F.3d 87 (1st Cir. 2008), holding 
that parents have no constitutional right to be informed 
by a public school of the fact that the school would be 
instructing students with books regarding same-sex 
marriage and homosexuality. The parents argued that 
under Meyer and Pierce, they were entitled to such notice 
so they could opt their children out of these lessons, but 
the First Circuit held that the right was more limited than 
that. Instead, it held that Meyer/Pierce protect only the 
right to decide which school a child will attend—and that 
once this choice is made, a parent has no right to “direct 
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how a public school teaches their child.” Id. at 102 (quoting 
Blau v. Fort Thomas Pub. Sch. Dist., 401 F.3d 381, 395 
(6th Cir. 2005)).3 

The Second, Fifth, and Tenth Circuits have reached 
similar conclusions about the “limited” nature of the 
right articulated in Meyer and Pierce. See Leebaert v. 
Harrington, 332 F.3d 134, 141 (2d Cir. 2003) (“Meyer, 
Pierce, and their progeny do not begin to suggest the 
existence of a fundamental right of every parent to tell 
a public school what his or her child will and will not be 
taught.”); Littlefield v. Forney Indep. Sch. Dist., 268 F.3d 
275, 291 (5th Cir. 2001) (holding that a school uniform 
policy did not violate parental rights); Swanson ex rel. 
Swanson v. Guthrie Indep. Sch. Dist., 135 F.3d 694, 
699 (10th Cir. 1998) (holding that a school district policy 
against part-time enrollment for home school students did 
not violate parental rights).

The Third Circuit has come out differently. It has 
adopted a “parent-primacy” approach,4 specifically 
rejecting the Ninth Circuit’s holding in Fields in C.N. v. 
Ridgewood Board of Education, 430 F.3d 159, 185 n.26 
(3d Cir. 2005). The Third Circuit has held that “[i]t is 
not educators, but parents who have primary rights in 
the upbringing of children. School officials have only a 
secondary responsibility and must respect these rights.” 

3.   Although Mahmoud, supra, made no direct mention of 
Parker, it seems clear that at least this portion of Parker is abrogated 
by Mahmoud. 

4.   See Santos, Bright Young Minds: Envisioning A Child’s 
Right to Direct Their Education, 56 Ariz. St. L.J. 1571, 1583-85 
(2024).
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Gruenke v. Seip, 225 F.3d 290, 307 (3d Cir. 2000). Under 
this approach, public school officials may run afoul of 
the parent’s rights based on a sliding scale that “var[ies] 
depending on the significance of the subject at issue, and 
the threshold for finding a conflict will not be as high when 
the school district’s actions ‘strike at the heart of parental 
decision-making authority on matters of the greatest 
importance.’” J.S. ex rel. Snyder v. Blue Mountain Sch. 
Dist., 650 F.3d 915, 934 (3d Cir. 2011) (quoting C.N., 430 
F.3d at 184).

B.	 This case presents a clean opportunity to 
resolve this circuit split.

This Court vindicated the Third Circuit’s “parent-
primacy” approach last term in Mahmoud, supra, 
which held that the fundamental rights of parents do not 
stop “‘at the schoolhouse gate,’” because “[g]overnment 
schools, like all government institutions, may not place 
unconstitutional burdens on religious exercise.” 145 S. Ct. 
at 2350 (quoting Tinker, 393 U.S. at 506). In Mahmoud, the 
Court expressly held that “the right of parents ‘to direct 
the religious upbringing of their’ children would be an 
empty promise if it did not follow those children into the 
public school classroom.” Id. at 2351. Parents, it said, have 
the right to send their children to a public school if they 
choose, and also the right not to be “interfer[ed] with” in 
their efforts to oversee their children’s upbringing and 
education “in a public-school setting.” Id. 

What’s more, Mahmoud expressly rejected the idea 
that parental rights cease with the selection of a school. 
Many parents, the Court observed, have no real choice in 
the matter “[d]ue to financial and other constraints.” Id. 
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For these parents, the fundamental right to direct the 
education of their children would be rendered hollow, if 
the government were free to ignore their rights once the 
school bell rings. 

The logic of Mahmoud is transferable to this situation. 
If parental rights cannot end at the public school entry 
way, or parking lot, then a school district cannot with 
impunity ban a parent from campus—and from speaking 
to her children’s teachers—in retaliation for her exercising 
her constitutional right to free speech, and then excuse its 
actions on the theory that the parent’s only constitutional 
right is to select where her child goes to school. 

Mahmoud does not directly resolve this case, however, 
because it involved a “hybrid rights” situation, like Yoder, 
406 U.S. 205, and West Virginia Board of Education 
v. Barnette, 319 U.S. 624 (1943), in which the parents’ 
religious freedom was intertwined with their right to 
educate their children. Although Mahmoud declined 
to address whether it was a “hybrid rights” situation, 
see 145 S. Ct. at 2361 n.14, it seems likely, given the 
Court’s emphasis on “parents’ free exercise rights,” id. 
at 2362, that lower courts will characterize it as limited 
to situations involving religious values—with the result 
of further limiting the scope of parental rights far more 
narrowly than Meyer, Pierce, and Troxel actually warrant.

This case, by contrast, presents a straightforward 
question of parental rights unaffected by more complicated 
questions of religious free exercise. The question is simply 
whether a public school can, consistent with a parent’s 
fundamental right to direct the education of her child, 
forbid that parent from setting foot on school grounds, or 
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even speaking at all to school employees, for an indefinite 
period of time—and, moreover, do this in retaliation for 
the parent expressing her views regarding the quality of 
service provided by the school.

The question is increasingly relevant as schools 
appear to be more willing than ever to aggressively bar 
parents from school grounds or from interactions with 
teachers. For example, a mother in Indiana was sent a no-
trespass letter in May 2024 after she recorded a meeting 
with a school principal about her daughter. See Charron, 
Indiana School Banned Mom for Recording Principal, 
Indianapolis Star (July 21, 2025).5 In September 2024, a 
school district in New Hampshire banned two parents 
from school property after they wore pink wrist bands to a 
girls’ soccer game to protest the inclusion of a transgender 
girl on the other team. See Fellers v. Kelley, No. 24-cv-
311-SM-AJ, 2025 WL 1098271 (D.N.H. Apr. 14, 2025). In 
2021, a school district in Tennessee banned a father from 
attending his daughter’s softball games for a week after he 
sent polite but firm text messages to the coach criticizing 
his decisions. McElhaney v. Williams, 81 F.4th 550 (6th 
Cir. 2023),6 cert. denied, 144 S. Ct. 696 (2024).

Only this Court can provide an answer to the question 
of whether parental rights end at the school house doors 
as the Ninth Circuit below has continually held.

5.   https://www.indystar.com/story/news/education/2025/07/21/
indiana-school-accused-of-violating-mom-first-amendment-rights-
goldwater-institute-fort-wayne/85193353007/?tbref=hp.

6.   The Sixth Circuit said it was “clearly established” that “any 
reasonable officer would have understood that McElhaney’s speech 
was protected.” 81 F.4th at 557.
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II.	 This case represents a crucial opportunity to revisit 
this Court’s often confusing qualified immunity 
precedents. 

The doctrine of qualified immunity has been the focus 
of increasing criticism both by scholars and Justices on 
this Court in recent years. See Ziglar v. Abbasi, 582 U.S. 
120, 156-60 (2017) (Thomas, J., concurring); Crawford-El 
v. Britton, 523 U.S. 574, 611 (1998) (Scalia, J., dissenting); 
Wyatt v. Cole, 504 U.S. 158, 169-75 (1992) (Kennedy, 
J., concurring); see also Baude, Is Qualified Immunity 
Unlawful?, 106 Calif. L. Rev. 45 (2018). This case presents 
a unique opportunity to address those concerns.

The theory of qualified immunity7 is that government 
officials need “breathing room to make reasonable but 
mistaken judgments about open legal questions.” Ashcroft 
v. al-Kidd, 563 U.S. 731, 743 (2011). To give government 
officials this breathing room, courts should avoid second-
guessing officers with “the 20/20 vision of hindsight” 
when they are “forced to make split-second judgments—
in circumstances that are tense, uncertain, and rapidly 
evolving—about the amount of force that is necessary in 
a particular situation.” Graham, 490 U.S. at 396-97.

7.   It’s questionable whether the text of Section 1983 has any 
room for qualified immunity. Indeed, it’s likely that the entire 
doctrine flows from a simple scrivener’s error in the statute. See 
Reinert, Qualified Immunity’s Flawed Foundation, 111 Cal. L. 
Rev. 201, 235-38 (2023). Nevertheless, this Court has continually 
recognized the doctrine—especially in cases involving law 
enforcement officers—and even over the objections of members of 
this Court who point to the lack of textual or historical foundation 
for this immunity. Baxter v. Bracey, 140 S. Ct. 1862, 1864-65 (2020) 
(Thomas, J., dissenting from denial of certiorari). 
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It is doubtful, therefore, whether the doctrine should 
apply, or should apply in the same way, to officials who 
aren’t being called upon to make rapid decisions under 
pressure; officials who have the full opportunity to 
weigh their actions and evaluate the lawfulness of their 
decisions. Particularly pressing is the question of whether, 
assuming public school principals should receive qualified 
immunity at all, it should apply in the same manner 
as in cases involving policemen and -women acting to 
protect the public in emergencies. As Justice Thomas 
has observed, “the one-size-fits-all” qualified immunity 
approach is “an odd fit for many cases.” Hoggard, 141 S. 
Ct. at 2421 (Thomas, J., respecting denial of cert.). These 
are questions only this Court can answer—and this case 
presents an excellent opportunity to do so. 

A.	 School principals should not receive the 
same qualified immunity as law enforcement 
officers.

Qualified immunity seeks to strike a balance between 
the needs of a wronged individual to vindicate her 
constitutional rights on the one hand and the “‘substantial 
social costs, including the risk that fear of personal 
monetary liability and harassing litigation will unduly 
inhibit officials in the discharge of their duties.’” Ziglar, 
582 U.S. at 150 (quoting Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 
635, 638 (1987)). But balancing cannot be accomplished 
by a one-size-fits-all rule.

Consider Hoggard: There, the plaintiff argued that 
university officials violated her First Amendment rights 
by prohibiting her from placing a table at the student union 
where she could express her political opinions and hand 
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out literature to fellow students. Turning Point USA at 
Ark. State Univ. v. Rhodes, 973 F.3d 868, 873 (8th Cir. 
2020). Pursuant to university policy, she was informed that 
only registered student organizations were allowed to do 
this, and when she refused to move, was issued a citation. 
Id. at 873-87. She sued, and the case reached the Eighth 
Circuit, which held that the university administrators 
were entitled to qualified immunity. Id. at 879-81. This 
Court denied certiorari, but Justice Thomas observed 
that it was bizarre that “university officers, who have time 
to make calculated choices about enacting or enforcing 
unconstitutional policies,” would “receive the same 
protection as a police officer who makes a split-second 
decision to use force in a dangerous setting[.]” Hoggard, 
141 S. Ct. at 2421-22. 

This observation was correct; this Court’s current 
qualified immunity jurisprudence leads to counterintuitive 
results. In the archetypical police officer case, the officer 
has no opportunity to consult counsel or review legal 
precedents to determine whether it is constitutional to 
search a suspicious person or to open fire on a suspect; 
such actions must be done immediately with the potential 
of lost life or property if the wrong decision is made. Given 
the urgency and the practical constraints of the cop on 
the scene, courts are naturally reluctant to second-guess 
such decisions by imposing liability on officers. See also 
Mullenix v. Luna, 577 U.S. 7, 12 (2015) (“[S]pecificity is 
especially important … where the Court has recognized 
that ‘[i]t is sometimes difficult for an officer to determine 
how the relevant legal doctrine, here excessive force, 
will apply to the factual situation the officer confronts.’” 
(citation omitted)). 
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But in the school environment typified by this case 
and Hoggard, the public official has time to evaluate the 
situation, review the applicable procedures and law, and 
even consult legal counsel before acting. Nobody’s life is 
at stake. There’s plenty of time to deliberate and weigh 
numerous options. When those officials refuse to take 
advantage of these options, they should not receive the 
benefits that law enforcement officers receive when they 
do not have the luxury of those options.

For those reasons, judges in several lower courts have 
heeded Justice Thomas’s question. Most notably, Judge 
Ho has written in many cases that officials who violate 
citizens’ constitutional rights in the heat of an urgent 
and good-faith effort to discharge their duties should be 
treated differently in the immunity analysis from those 
who violate individual rights with cool deliberation after 
having time to reflect. 

For example, in Wearry v. Foster, 33 F.4th 260 (5th Cir. 
2022), cert. denied, the Fifth Circuit granted prosecutorial 
immunity to a state prosecutor who fabricated evidence 
in a case that sent a man to prison for sixteen years for a 
crime he didn’t commit. Judge Ho, concurring in the denial 
of en banc review, wrote that “[w]hen public officials are 
forced to make split-second, life-and-death decisions in 
a good-faith effort to save innocent lives, they deserve 
some measure of deference.” 52 F.4th 258, 259 (5th Cir. 
2022) (Ho, J., concurring in denial of rehearing). He 
contrasted this situation “when public officials make the 
deliberate and considered decision to trample on a citizen’s 
constitutional rights” and in those situations “they deserve 
to be held accountable.” Id. 
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More recently, in Villarreal v. City of Laredo, 44 F.4th 
363 (5th Cir. 2022), rev’d 94 F.4th 374 (5th Cir. 2024), rev’d 
sub nom. Villarreal v. Alaniz, 145 S. Ct. 368 (2024), police 
officers arrested a woman for seeking and publishing 
information critical of the police—a clear violation of the 
First Amendment. The Fifth Circuit initially found that 
qualified immunity did not apply because “[t]here is a 
big difference between ‘split-second decisions’ by police 
officers and ‘premeditated plans to arrest a person for 
her journalism, especially by local officials who have a 
history of targeting her because of her journalism.’” 44 
F.4th at 371. 

But the en banc court reversed, holding that police 
did not have “fair notice” that arresting a journalist for 
seeking information was unconstitutional. 94 F.4th at 397. 
Among other dissenters, Judge Willett observed that “one 
of the justifications so frequently invoked in defense of 
qualified immunity—that law enforcement officers need 
‘breathing room’ to make ‘split-second judgments’—is 
altogether absent in this case.… This was not the hot 
pursuit of a presumed criminal; it was the premeditated 
pursuit of a confirmed critic.” Id. at 406-07 (Willett, J., 
dissenting). This Court granted certiorari, vacated, and 
remanded without opinion. Villarreal v. Alaniz, 145 S. 
Ct. 368 (2024). See also Novak v. City of Parma, 932 F.3d 
421, 434-35 (6th Cir. 2019), cert. denied, 143 S. Ct. 773 
(2023) (granting qualified immunity to officers who, over 
the course of several months, tracked down and arrested 
a man for criticizing the police on Facebook).

This case presents a much cleaner opportunity for the 
Court to address this question than those cases. This case 
involves no criminal prosecution, no police action, and no 
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complex facts—all of which have already been determined 
at trial (as opposed to Villareal, which came to the Court 
on a pre-discovery dismissal). The question is thus cleanly 
presented: should a school principal, who has plenty of 
opportunity for deliberation and legal inquiry, receive the 
same qualified immunity as a police officer acting in hot 
pursuit? Given how frequently this issue arises, the Court 
should grant certiorari to resolve it.

B.	 The Court should grant certiorari to clarify 
the “clearly established” standard in qualified 
immunity cases not involving split-second law 
enforcement decisions.

Overcoming qualified immunity requires a plaintiff 
prove that the constitutional violation was “clearly 
established” at the time of the challenged government 
conduct. A right is only “clearly established” if “the 
contours of the right are sufficiently clear that every 
reasonable official would have understood that what he 
is doing violates that right.” Ashcroft, 563 U.S. at 741 
(citation modified). There’s an open question, however, 
regarding how “on-point” precedent must be before 
it can “clearly establish” a right—and whether some 
violations are simply so obvious that on-point precedent 
is unnecessary. A modest extension of the obviousness 
principle would suffice here: a sliding scale that requires 
less “on-point” precedent the more time a government 
official has to deliberate about a decision and the less risk 
to public safety is presented by the decision. 

This Court has denied qualified immunity when 
officer conduct was so obviously unconstitutional that no 
reasonable officer could have believed it to be otherwise. 
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See, e.g., Hope v. Pelzer, 536 U.S. 730, 741 (2002) (“general 
statements of the law ... may apply with obvious clarity 
to the specific conduct in question, even though the very 
action in question has not previously been held unlawful.” 
(citation modified)); Taylor v. Riojas, 592 U.S. 7, 8-9 & 
n.2 (2020) (reversing qualified immunity decision because 
of obviousness). As then-Judge Gorsuch once observed, 
“[S]ome things are so obviously unlawful that they 
don’t require detailed explanation.” Browder v. City of 
Albuquerque, 787 F.3d 1076, 1082 (10th Cir. 2015).

Obviousness makes sense because without it every 
public official would get “one free bite.” See Zadeh v. 
Robinson, 928 F.3d 457, 479 (5th Cir. 2019) (Willett, J., 
concurring) (“qualified immunity smacks of unqualified 
impunity, letting public officials duck consequences for 
bad behavior—no matter how palpably unreasonable—as 
long as they were the first to behave badly.”). As Judge Ho 
recently explained, “[i]t seems absurd to suggest that the 
most egregious constitutional violations imaginable are 
somehow immune from liability precisely because they 
are so egregious” that “no one in government has yet to 
be abusive enough to commit that particular violation—
and then stubborn enough to litigate it, not only before 
a district court, but also in the court of appeals (or the 
Supreme Court).” McMurry v. Weaver, 142 F.4th 292, 304 
(5th Cir. 2025) (Ho, J., concurring). 

Yet that’s precisely what is happening now in many 
qualified immunity cases: courts require plaintiffs to show 
exact on-point precedent in order to satisfy the “clearly 
established” requirement. In Baxter v. Bracey, 751 Fed. 
Appx. 869 (6th Cir. 2018), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 1862 
(2020), for example, police officers were held immune for 
releasing an attack dog on a suspect who had already 
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surrendered. Id. at 870. There was precedent8 holding 
that this was excessive force, but the court found this 
insufficient to “clearly establish” the principle, because in 
that earlier case, the suspect was lying on the ground when 
the dog attacked him, whereas in Baxter he was sitting 
on the ground with his hands in the air. Id. at 872. See 
also Ramirez v. Guadarrama, 3 F.4th 129 (5th Cir. 2021), 
cert. denied, 142 S. Ct. 2571 (2022) (officers held immune 
when they tasered a man doused in gasoline, thus burning 
him to death, because there was no precedent directly 
on point showing that this was illegal); Jessop v. City of 
Fresno, 936 F.3d 937 (9th Cir. 2019), cert. denied, 140 S. 
Ct. 2793 (2020) (officers who simply stole $225,000 while 
executing a warrant were immune because no directly 
on-point precedent “clearly established” that this was 
unconstitutional); cf. Hughes v. Garcia, 100 F.4th 611, 614, 
625 (5th Cir. 2024) (affirming denial of an “absurd” and 
“amazing” claim of qualified immunity).

There simply must be cases where official conduct 
is so obviously egregious that any rational official would 
know it’s beyond the pale. See, e.g., Taylor, supra. Yet 
the parameters of “obviousness” have never been set, 
and this case presents an ideal opportunity to provide 
the guidance that lower courts need. In situations where 
officials have time for reasoned decision-making, the 
“clearly established” requirement should apply at a lower 
level of stringency, in light of the officials’ ability to acquire 
necessary legal guidance—and that includes recognition 
that obvious violations of the Constitution don’t need 
specific on-point precedent. The general principle that 
the government cannot retaliate against an individual 
because of her speech should suffice.

8.   Campbell v. City of Springboro, 700 F.3d 779 (6th Cir. 2012).
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This case is ideal for resolving these issues, not only 
because Hartzell’s speech was clearly protected by the 
Constitution but also because the court below has already 
held that a reasonable jury could find that her ban from 
school grounds was unconstitutional retaliation for that 
speech. App. 30a-32a. 

CONCLUSION

This case centers on two exceptionally important and 
recurring issues: the extent to which a parent’s right to 
control the education of her child extends beyond the 
schoolyard gate, and whether qualified immunity should 
apply in the same way to a school principal engaged in 
reasoned decision making and a law enforcement officer 
who must make a split-second, life-or-death decision. 
There is a complete record and no factual dispute. 

Further percolation will not resolve the circuit 
split over the extent of parents’ right to educate their 
children—a division which has existed for almost two 
decades. Nor will further percolation be of assistance 
on the qualified immunity question. Because the Ninth 
Circuit already found a likely constitutional violation, the 
only questions presented are questions of law that cry out 
for this Court’s guidance. 

The petition should be granted.
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Appeal from the United States District Court  
for the District of Arizona  

Scott H. Rash, District Judge, Presiding 

Submitted October 21, 2024 
Phoenix, Arizona

Filed March 5, 2025 

Before: A. WALLACE TASHIMA, MILAN D. SMITH, 
JR., and BRIDGET S. BADE, Circuit Judges. 

Opinion by Judge Milan D. Smith, Jr.

OPINION

M. SMITH, Circuit Judge:

Following an incident on February 7, 2020, at Dove 
Mountain K-CSTEM school (Dove Mountain), Plaintiff-
Appellant Rebecca Hartzell was banned from the 
school premises. Hartzell claims that she was banned 
from the school in retaliation for her protected speech. 
Defendants-Appellees, the Marana Unified School District 
(the District) and Andrea Divijak, the principal at Dove 
Mountain, assert that Hartzell was banned because of her 
conduct; specifically, they allege that Hartzell assaulted 
Divijak. Hartzell sued the District and Divijak pursuant 
to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violations of her First Amendment 
and procedural due process rights. Hartzell also sued 
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Divijak for defamation.1

The district court granted summary judgment in the 
Defendants’ favor on the procedural due process claim, on 
the § 1983 claim against Divijak, and on the defamation 
claim to the extent it was based on two documents sent 
to Hartzell’s employer. The district court also denied 
Hartzell’s request to amend her procedural due process 
claim to include a First Amendment theory.

At trial, the district court precluded questioning 
or argument regarding Hartzell’s First Amendment 
Monell claim against the District to the extent it relied 
on a “final policymaker” theory.2 At the close of trial, the 
district court granted judgment as a matter of law in the 
Defendants’ favor on the First Amendment claim against 
the District. The jury rejected the balance of Hartzell’s 
defamation claim, which was the only cause of action 
submitted to it.

Hartzell appeals each of the distr ict court’s 
determinations. We reverse in part and affirm in part.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Hartzell is the parent of eight school-aged children, 
five of whom attended Dove Mountain during the 2019–20 

1.  Hartzell also brought additional claims not relevant to 
this appeal.

2.  See Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 436 U.S. 658, 98 S. Ct. 
2018, 56 L. Ed. 2d 611 (1978).
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school year. Divijak was serving as the principal of Dove 
Mountain at that time. In August 2019, the District opened 
Dove Mountain, a new kindergarten through eighth grade 
school. Dove Mountain is a part of and run by the District.

I. 	 Hartzell’s Advocacy

Hartzell has a master’s degree in special education 
and a doctorate focusing on applied behavioral analysis 
and autism. She also became an associate professor of 
practice at the University of Arizona, and a director of 
the master’s program in applied behavioral analysis at 
that institution.

Since approximately 2008, Hartzell has been 
advocating for improved services in the District. Prior 
to February 7, 2020, Hartzell had expressed, both orally 
and via e-mail, numerous concerns to District personnel, 
including concerns related to school event scheduling, 
overheated buses, children accessing pornography on 
school computers, the availability of books in the school 
library, restrictions on children’s ability to speak to one 
another in the cafeteria during lunch, procedures for 
meetings regarding Individualized Education Programs, 
the treatment of children with disabilities, and special 
education funding.

At trial, Hartzell testified that the District reacted 
negatively to her advocacy. For example, in 2011, a 
District employee said that Hartzell was “asking for 
the moon!!!” Hartzell also identified an occasion in 2016 
when Hartzell sent a strongly worded e-mail and, after 
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sending the e-mail, was no longer welcome to volunteer 
at an elementary school where she had previously been 
permitted to do so. Hartzell also identified an occasion 
two years later, in 2018, when a District employee told 
Hartzell that the District instructed the employee not 
to allow Hartzell to volunteer. Around the same time, 
Hartzell also met with one of the District’s assistant 
superintendents who told Hartzell she was not welcome 
at schools within the district other than those attended 
by her children. Hartzell attributed these decisions to her 
advocacy. Hartzell identified an instance in 2018 when a 
teacher said she was “pissed” after being criticized by 
Hartzell and said she had developed “nicknames” for 
Hartzell. This teacher also called Hartzell her “first nasty 
parent.”

In 2019, in the weeks before Dove Mountain opened 
as a new school in August of that year, and as Divijak 
transitioned from her position at a different school to 
become principal of Dove Mountain, Hartzell began 
directing her advocacy to Divijak. In May 2019, Hartzell 
sent an e-mail to Divijak expressing concern that she 
and other parents had not received adequate notice of a 
meeting about elective courses. Hartzell spoke to Divijak 
and offered to help at Dove Mountain. Hartzell testified 
that Divijak responded abruptly that Dove Mountain was 
“not interested in help.” During the fall of 2019, Hartzell 
sent another e-mail to Divijak expressing her concern 
about second graders being instructed “they had to be 
quiet before they could go out to recess.” During that same 
semester, Hartzell also expressed concerns to Divijak that 
Dove Mountain’s library was too small.
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On December 10, 2019, Hartzell e-mailed Divijak, 
expressing concerns about a school event where her 
children were scheduled to perform simultaneously in 
different locations. Hartzell was concerned that she would 
be unable to watch all her children perform, and she 
was also concerned about parking and childcare issues. 
At Divijak’s invitation, Hartzell subsequently provided 
additional suggestions for the school.

II. 	The February 7, 2020 Incident

On February 7, 2020, Dove Mountain hosted an event 
where students presented projects they had been working 
on for a few months. Two of Hartzell’s children were 
scheduled to present in different rooms simultaneously. 
While attending the event, Hartzell saw Divijak in a 
classroom and approached her. Hartzell was accompanied 
by one of her children, who attended preschool at Dove 
Mountain. No other children were present. Hartzell 
“sarcastically” thanked Divijak for “making [her] choose 
which kid [she was] going to support again today.” 
Hartzell testified that she began to walk away, but 
Divijak responded that she was “sorry that [Hartzell 
was] just never happy.” Hartzell testified that she turned 
back around and explained her proposed solution to 
the scheduling conflicts. According to Hartzell, Divijak 
refused to speak with her further and began to walk away 
while Hartzell was speaking. Hartzell says she responded 
that it seemed she and Divijak were never able to have a 
conversation. However, Hartzell denies doing anything 
to stop Divijak from walking away and specifically denies 
grabbing Divijak’s wrist. Even so, Hartzell acknowledges 
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that she accidentally touched Divijak’s arm as she walked 
by and that she said “stop, I’m talking to you.” Hartzell 
recalls that Divijak shouted, “Don’t touch me.” Hartzell 
testified that Divijak continued walking away and that 
Hartzell said, “Forget it. I’ll just contact the District.”

After her interaction with Divijak, Hartzell went 
to the room where one of her daughters was giving a 
presentation. Hartzell testified that she was approached by 
a hall monitor, who ordered Hartzell to leave immediately, 
informed her that the police would be called if she did not 
leave, and escorted her out of the building. Hartzell went 
to the parking lot and was approached by Marana Police 
Department Officer Jerry Ysaguirre.

According to Ysaguirre, Hartzell admitted placing 
her hand on top of Divijak’s wrist to stop her so they 
could continue speaking. Hartzell said she immediately 
regretted this action and removed her hand. Hartzell 
insisted to Ysaguirre that she never grabbed Divijak’s 
wrist.

Ysaguirre advised Hartzell about the procedures for 
investigating “an assault” involving a teacher. He told her 
that she was “trespassed from” the entire school property 
and that, while her children could continue to attend Dove 
Mountain, Hartzell could not enter school property and 
would have to arrange for someone else to drop off and pick 
up her children. Ysaguirre explained that Hartzell could 
be arrested for trespassing if she returned. Ysaguirre 
told Hartzell that the order would remain in effect until 
the District decided otherwise.
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In an incident report, Ysaguirre wrote that “he was 
advised that the school want[ed Hartzell] trespassed from 
the property.” In an e-mail, Greg Roehm, the District’s 
Safety and Security Coordinator, stated that he met with 
Ysaguirre who “indicated that Ms. Hartzell was given 
the trespass warning at [Divijak’s] request” and that 
Ysaguirre said it “remains in effect until the district 
advises him to revoke the trespass alert.”

Ysaguirre next spoke to Divijak. According to 
Ysaguirre, Divijak said she began to walk around 
Hartzell, who allegedly yelled out “Dam[n] it,” said the 
conversation was not over, and demanded that Divijak 
stop walking away. Divijak said Hartzell reached out and 
grabbed Divijak’s left wrist with her right hand, fully 
wrapping her hand around Divijak’s wrist and holding on. 
Divijak told Ysaguirre that she had to pull her arm away 
to release Hartzell’s grasp. Ysaguirre did not observe 
marks on Divijak’s arms, and Divijak said she did not 
need medical attention.

Ysaguirre reviewed the school’s security camera 
footage and determined that, although the actual grab was 
not seen on the video, Divijak’s reaction to the contact was 
more consistent with her own description of the incident. 
That same day, Roehm reviewed the surveillance video 
and reported to the District Superintendent, Doug Wilson, 
and the Assistant Superintendents, Carolyn Dumler and 
Kristin Reidy, that the “wrist grab is not clear.”

Ysaguirre also spoke to Paul Gute, a parent who was 
in the room during the encounter between Hartzell and 
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Divijak. Although Gute could not see the actual physical 
contact, Gute testified that Hartzell reached out and 
touched Divijak. Gute also testified at trial that Hartzell 
touched Divijak but did not hit or grab her. Gute further 
testified that Hartzell did not hold Divijak, who pulled 
away quickly. Gute was not interviewed by the District.

III. 	 After the Incident

Later that same day, Wilson, Dumler, Reidy, and 
Roehm discussed the incident in a group text. In response 
to Wilson’s request for the “back story,” Reidy described 
Hartzell as “opinionated” and “not flexible at all.” Dumler 
described Hartzell as “[v]ery high maintenance.”3 
Principal Divijak’s secretary, Sarah Wilson, called 
Hartzell “one of them” and indicated Hartzell had “been 
like this all year.” Wilson also described one of Hartzell’s 
e-mails as “verbal diarrhea.”

On Febr ua r y 2 4 ,  2 0 2 0,  Ha r tzel l  met  w ith 
Superintendent Wilson and an attorney for the District. 
Hartzell’s husband and her attorney were also present. 
Hartzell testified that the District said the decision to 
ban her from school grounds was final and would remain 
in place indefinitely. Hartzell testified that the District 
would not lift the ban because the District “would have 

3.  At trial, Dumler testified that high maintenance is “a 
term to describe parents who are very involved and take some 
time, but they want the best for their kids.” When asked if these 
parents “ruffle feathers within the district,” she said “you could 
say that, but at the same time they are parents that add a lot, so 
we work with them.”
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an upset assistant superintendent and principal.” Later in 
the conversation, the District agreed to permit Hartzell to 
enter school grounds to retrieve her preschooler, as long 
as she did not speak to anyone. The District’s attorney told 
Hartzell that she would receive a letter in the mail stating 
the conditions of her exclusion. Hartzell did not receive 
any further communications from the District regarding 
the “trespass” order. In June 2023, the District’s counsel 
told Hartzell that the order was lifted.

On March 30, 2020, the state filed misdemeanor 
assault charges against Hartzell in Marana Municipal 
Court for “knowingly touching another person with 
the intent to injury, insult of provoke such person,” in 
violation of Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 13-1203(A)(3). At the request 
of the town prosecutor, the charges were dismissed on 
September 22, 2020.

IV.	 District Policy KFA

Hartzell contends that the District’s exclusion order 
was issued pursuant to a District policy. Specifically, 
Hartzell relies on the policy regarding public conduct 
on school property, District Policy KFA, which prohibits 
“[a]ny conduct intended to obstruct, disrupt, or interfere 
with” a school’s operations, “[p]hysical or verbal abuse 
or threat of harm to any person on property owned 
or controlled by the District,” and “[u]se of speech or 
language that is offensive or inappropriate to the limited 
forum of the public school educational environment.” The 
policy provides that “[a]ny member of the general public 
considered by the Superintendent, or a person authorized 
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by the Superintendent, to be in violation of these rules 
shall be instructed to leave the property of the District,” 
and that “[f]ailure to obey the instruction may subject 
the person to criminal proceedings pursuant to A.R.S. 
13-2911 [for trespassing.]”4

At trial, Assistant Superintendent Dumler was asked 
if the District’s policies allowed a person to be banned 
from schools based on their speech. Dumler responded 
as follows:

Q.  In fact, does one of the [D]istrict’s own 
policies allow someone to be banned due to 
speech?

A.  Yes, it does. Well, not due to speech. Well, 
due to offensive or belligerent or disorderly 
conduct. There’s a couple of different phrases 
in the policy.

4.  The cited statute provides that “[t]he chief administrative 
officer of an educational institution or an officer or employee 
designated by the chief administrative officer to maintain order 
may order a person to leave the property of the educational 
institution if the officer or employee has reasonable grounds to 
believe either that: 1. Any person or persons are committing any 
act that interferes with or disrupts the lawful use of the property 
by others at the educational institution [or] 2. Any person has 
entered on the property of an educational institution for the 
purpose of committing any act that interferes with or disrupts the 
lawful use of the property by others at the educational institution.” 
Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 13-2911(C). It also punishes “[i]ntentionally 
or knowingly refusing to obey a lawful order given pursuant to 
subsection C of this section.” Id. § 13-2911(A)(3).
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Q.  The kind of offensive speech that’s in the 
ear of the hearer, like you said earlier, right?

A.  I would – I would say that before the 
district would ban someone, we would probably 
consult our legal counsel. That would be our 
typical practice. We have banned someone 
because of aggressive, belligerent, obnoxious 
cursing and swearing at referees and coaches 
and things like that. So it can be – there are 
times when it can be done.

Q.  And that case you’re talking about, about 
a parent being temporarily trespassed from 
a sporting event for being belligerent and 
swearing and cursing and going on and on, is 
that anything like what Professor Hartzell was 
doing?

A.  Well, it’s different. And part of what makes 
it different is that law enforcement was involved 
in this one. So because there was an ongoing 
law enforcement investigation, we probably did 
not do all of the things in the same order or the 
same way that we normally would. Typically, it 
just is a principal who brings a situation to us, 
and then we consult legal counsel.

V.	 The Allegedly Defamatory Documents

In October 2020, Hartzell’s supervisor at the 
University of Arizona advised her that a document 
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“regarding [Hartzell] was delivered to her department.” 
This document was a printout of the docket from the 
criminal case brought against Hartzell. In the upper 
right-hand corner of the copy of the docket sheet, there 
was a typed note reading: “This occurred at a K-8 school 
in front of young children. Doesn’t seem like this is the 
kind of person that should be training teachers let alone 
working with kids.”

In April 2021, someone also sent an unsigned note to 
the Compliance Office at Hartzell’s employer. The note 
read as follows:

Please be advised that your professor, Rebecca 
I. Hartzell has, for at least the last two (2) 
years, been using her University of Arizona 
email account to harass, bully, intimidate and 
threaten people.

A full audit of her account will verify these 
accusations. Additionally, I have great concern 
about her mental health.

I send this without signature for fear of 
retribution but hope you will take this matter 
seriously.

The district court assumed without deciding there 
was sufficient circumstantial evidence Divijak sent both 
documents. Divijak does not challenge that assumption on 
appeal and instead argues that the district court correctly 
concluded that the statements were not defamatory.
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VI.	Procedural History

On February 4, 2021, Hartzell sued the District 
and Divijak.5 As relevant here, Hartzell brought a First 
Amendment retaliation claim against both the District and 
Divijak, a procedural due process claim against the District, 
and a defamation claim against Divijak. After the close 
of discovery, the district court granted partial summary 
judgment against Hartzell. Three parts of that decision 
are relevant. First, the district court granted summary 
judgment on the procedural due process claim against the 
District because Hartzell did not have a constitutionally 
protected liberty interest in accessing school property. 
The district court considered only Hartzell’s Fourteenth 
Amendment right to direct the education of her children 
in determining whether Hartzell had a protected liberty 
interest because the relevant portion of Hartzell’s First 
Amended Complaint cited only that right. Second, the 
district court concluded that Divijak was entitled to 
qualified immunity on the First Amendment retaliation 
claim because Divijak did not have adequate notice that 
her conduct violated a clearly established right. Third, 
the district court granted partial summary judgment in 
favor of Divijak on the defamation claim, concluding that 
the statements in the two documents sent to Hartzell’s 
employer were substantially true or unactionable. The 
district court allowed the defamation claim to proceed 
based on certain oral statements made by Divijak.

5.  Hartzell also sued Divijak’s husband, Joseph Divijak, solely 
“for collection and judgment enforcement purposes” against their 
marital community.
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After losing her procedural due process claim, 
Hartzell sought to amend her pleadings to state that this 
claim also arose out of the First Amendment. The district 
court denied Hartzell’s request for leave to amend.

At trial, the district court precluded questioning or 
argument regarding Hartzell’s theory that the District 
was liable for the violation of her First Amendment rights 
under Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 436 U.S. 658, 98 S. Ct. 
2018, 56 L. Ed. 2d 611 (1978), using a “final policymaker” 
theory. The district court reasoned that, even if this theory 
had been adequately pled, it was not contained in the joint 
proposed pretrial order. That order only identified “[w]
hether the District has a custom, policy, or practice which 
was the moving force behind the alleged First Amendment 
retaliation” as a contested issue of fact and law.

At the close of Hartzell’s case in chief, the Appellees 
moved for judgment as a matter of law pursuant to Fed. 
R. Civ. P. 50(a). The district court granted the motion on 
Hartzell’s First Amendment retaliation claim against the 
District. As a result, only Hartzell’s defamation claim 
against Divijak was submitted to the jury. The jury found 
in Divijak’s favor.

Hartzell now appeals (i) the grant of the District’s 
motion for judgment as a matter of law with respect to 
the First Amendment claim against the District; (ii) the 
exclusion of her “final policymaker” theory; (iii) the grant 
of Divijak’s motion for summary judgment with respect to 
the First Amendment claim against Divijak; (iv) the grant 
of summary judgment with respect to her due-process 
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claim (and the related denial of her motion for leave to 
amend); and (v) the exclusion of certain of her defamation 
theories at the summary-judgment stage.

JURISDICTION AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

We have jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291.

“We review a district court’s grant of summary 
judgment de novo.” Berry v. Valence Tech., Inc., 175 F.3d 
699, 703 (9th Cir. 1999). We “[v]iew[] the evidence in the 
light most favorable to the nonmoving party and draw all 
inferences in its favor[.]” Id. Summary judgment is only 
appropriate “if the movant shows that there is no genuine 
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled 
to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).

Similarly, “[w]e review de novo an order granting or 
denying judgment as a matter of law” pursuant to Fed. 
R. Civ. P. 50(a). Quiksilver, Inc. v. Kymsta Corp., 466 
F.3d 749, 755 (9th Cir. 2006) (quoting Lawson v. Umatilla 
County, 139 F.3d 690, 692 (9th Cir. 1998)). “Judgment as 
a matter of law is proper when the evidence permits a 
reasonable jury to reach only one conclusion.” Id. (quoting 
same). As in the summary-judgment context, “we must 
consider all the evidence and all reasonable inferences 
drawn from the evidence in a light most favorable to” the 
non-moving party. Id. (quoting Janich Bros., Inc. v. Am. 
Distilling Co., 570 F.2d 848, 853 (9th Cir. 1977)).

“The district court’s alleged evidentiary errors are 
reviewed for abuse of discretion.” Geurin v. Winston 
Indus., Inc., 316 F.3d 879, 882 (9th Cir. 2002).



Appendix A

17a

“The district court’s denial of leave to amend 
the complaint is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.” 
Cervantes v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., 656 F.3d 
1034, 1041 (9th Cir. 2011).

ANALYSIS

I. 	 First Amendment Retaliation Claim Against the 
District

“A government entity may not be held liable under 42 
U.S.C. § 1983, unless a policy, practice, or custom of the 
entity can be shown to be a moving force behind a violation 
of constitutional rights.” Dougherty v. City of Covina, 
654 F.3d 892, 900 (9th Cir. 2011) (citing Monell, 436 U.S. 
at 694). “In particular, . . . a municipality cannot be held 
liable solely because it employs a tortfeasor—or, in other 
words, a municipality cannot be held liable under § 1983 
on a respondeat superior theory.” Monell, 436 U.S. at 691.

We have identified “three ways” in which “[a] plaintiff 
can satisfy Monell’s policy requirement.” Gordon v. 
County of Orange, 6 F.4th 961, 973 (9th Cir. 2021). “First, a 
local government may be held liable when it acts ‘pursuant 
to an expressly adopted official policy.’” Id. (quoting 
Thomas v. County of Riverside, 763 F.3d 1167, 1170 (9th 
Cir. 2014) (per curiam)). “Second, a public entity may be 
held liable for a ‘longstanding practice or custom.’” Id. 
(quoting same). “Third, ‘a local government may be held 
liable under [Section] 1983 when “the individual who 
committed the constitutional tort was an official with final 
policy-making authority” or such an official “ratified a 
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subordinate’s unconstitutional decision or action and the 
basis for it.”’” Id. (alteration in original) (quoting Clouthier 
v. County of Contra Costa, 591 F.3d 1232, 1250 (9th Cir. 
2010), overruled on other grounds by Castro v. County of 
Los Angeles, 833 F.3d 1060, 1070 (9th Cir. 2016) (en banc)).

A. 	 The “Final Policymaker” Theory

The district court did not abuse its discretion in 
excluding Hartzell’s attempt to prove her Monell claim 
using the “final policymaker” theory.

The district court excluded this theory because 
Hartzell failed adequately to identify it in the joint pretrial 
statement.6 “[P]arties have a duty to advance any and all 
theories in the pretrial order[].  .  .  .” El-Hakem v. BJY 
Inc., 415 F.3d 1068, 1077 (9th Cir. 2005). “Accordingly, 
a party may not ‘offer evidence or advance theories at 
the trial which are not included in the order or which 
contradict its terms.’” Id. (quoting United States v. First 
Nat’l Bank of Circle, 652 F.2d 882, 886 (9th Cir. 1981)). 
“A pretrial order, however, should be liberally construed 
to permit any issues at trial that are ‘embraced within its 
language.’” Miller v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 758 F.2d 364, 
368 (9th Cir. 1985) (quoting Circle, 652 F.2d at 886). Even 
so, “particular evidence or theories which are not at least 
implicitly included in the order are barred.” Circle, 652 
F.2d at 886.

6.  It is therefore unnecessary for us to address whether 
Hartzell also needed to move to amend her pleadings to present 
this theory.
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The “final policymaker” theory is a separate legal 
theory; the district court did not abuse its discretion 
by precluding that theory at trial. We have repeatedly 
identified the methods for proving Monell liability as 
separate legal theories. See, e.g., Bell v. Williams, 108 
F.4th 809, 818 (9th Cir. 2024) (referring to the plaintiff’s 
three “Monell theories of liability”); Benavidez v. County 
of San Diego, 993 F.3d 1134, 1154 (9th Cir. 2021) (rejecting 
“[e]ach of the [plaintiffs’] three Monell theories”). We 
have treated the “final policymaker” theory as a separate 
theory from the “policy, practice, or custom” theory. 
Pasadena Republican Club v. W. Just. Ctr., 985 F.3d 1161, 
1172 (9th Cir. 2021) (noting “the constitutional violation 
must be caused by a ‘policy, practice, or custom,’ or be 
ordered by a policymaking official”).

In addition, the “final policymaker” theory requires 
proof that differs significantly from the other two Monell 
theories. See Lytle v. Carl, 382 F.3d 978, 982–83 (9th Cir. 
2004) (discussing how this court determines whether an 
employee is a “final policymaker”). Among other things, 
the “final policymaker” focuses on a specific person or 
persons, their authority, their knowledge, and what they 
said and did on a specific occasion to ratify a specific 
decision. See, e.g., Christie v. Iopa, 176 F.3d 1231, 1239 
(9th Cir. 1999) (reviewing the actions and state of mind of 
the policymakers). The other Monell theories focus on the 
municipality’s policies, customs, or practices for a class of 
situations. See, e.g., Castro, 833 F.3d at 1075–76 (reviewing 
what precautions the entity defendants had taken for all 
prisoners detained in the police station’s “sobering cell”).
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Once a “final policymaker” theory is added, the final 
policymaker becomes a new central character whose 
presence significantly affects the scope of the claim. 
When a plaintiff fails to disclose that the assertion of 
Monell liability is based on a “final policymaker” theory 
of liability, “the objectives of the pretrial conference to 
simplify issues and avoid unnecessary proof by obtaining 
admissions of fact will be jeopardized if not entirely 
nullified.” Circle, 652 F.2d at 886.

The district court did not abuse its discretion in 
finding Hartzell had not adequately disclosed a “final 
policymaker” theory. In the joint proposed pretrial order 
that was later adopted as the final pretrial order, Hartzell 
identified “[w]hether the District has a custom, policy, or 
practice which was the moving force behind the alleged 
First Amendment retaliation” as a contested issue of fact 
in the proposed pretrial order. Hartzell did not, however, 
identify as a contested issue whether a district employee, 
such as Superintendent Wilson, was a final policymaker or 
whether a final policymaker had ratified Divijak’s decision 
or action. The district court reasonably understood the 
phrase “custom, policy, or practice” to invoke the first 
and second theories enumerated in Gordon, those based 
on an expressly adopted official policy or a longstanding 
practice or custom.

As Hartzell argues, the word “policy,” and other 
phrases containing that word, are sometimes used to 
encompass all the methods for proving Monell liability. 
See, e.g., Bidwell v. Cnty. of San Diego, No. 22-55680, 2023 
U.S. App. LEXIS 29751, 2023 WL 7381462, at *2 (9th 
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Cir. Nov. 8, 2023) (“A policy may consist of an expressly 
adopted municipal policy, a longstanding practice or 
custom, or an action taken or ratified by an official 
with final policymaking authority”). While Hartzell is 
correct, the authority upon which she relies clarifies that 
there are three ways in which a plaintiff can satisfy the 
“policy” element and, again, treats “final policy-making 
authority” as a separate theory. Gordon v. County of 
Orange, 6 F.4th 961, 973–74 (9th Cir. 2021); see Scanlon v. 
County of Los Angeles, 92 F.4th 781, 811–12 (9th Cir. 2024) 
(identifying “three ways a plaintiff can satisfy Monell’s 
policy requirement”).

Hartzell further argues that the word “policy” is 
contained in the phrase “final policymaker,” but this is 
not persuasive. The use of the word “policy” does not 
implicitly include all the legal theories that also include 
the word “policy.” In the pretrial order, Hartzell described 
the contested issue as “whether the District has a 
custom, policy, or practice which was the moving force 
behind the alleged First Amendment retaliation.” The 
placement of “has a” before “custom, policy, or practice,” 
supports the district court’s conclusion that Hartzell was 
proceeding under the first two theories of Monell liability, 
as opposed to asserting that a specific person was a “final 
policymaker.” Moreover, Hartzell used “policy” as an 
alternative to “custom” and “practice,” which suggests 
that she was using “policy” in its narrower sense rather 
than to refer to the “final policymaker” theory of proving 
Monell liability. Based on these circumstances, and given 
the district court’s familiarity with the parties’ positions 
and the case’s history, the district court’s understanding of 
Hartzell’s position does not reflect an abuse of discretion.
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Hartzell objects that the District and Divijak were 
permitted to pursue legal theories relating to the 
timeliness of Hartzell’s claims that were not disclosed 
in the joint pretrial proposed order. Hartzell has not 
appealed these decisions. Even if she had, the district 
court did not abuse its discretion in permitting these 
arguments. These theories were discussed extensively in 
the district court’s summary judgment order, so any risk 
of prejudice and surprise was limited.

In her reply brief, Hartzell argues for the first time 
that she timely disclosed a “final policymaker” theory 
in her trial brief. This argument fails for two reasons. 
First, Hartzell forfeited it by failing to raise it in her 
opening brief. See Greenwood v. FAA, 28 F.3d 971, 977 
(9th Cir. 1994) (“We review only issues which are argued 
specifically and distinctly in a party’s opening brief.”). 
Second, Hartzell’s later disclosures did not cure her 
breach of the “duty to advance any and all theories in the 
pretrial order[.]” El-Hakem, 415 F.3d at 1077.

B. 	 The “Policy” Theory and District Policy KFA

Notwithstanding the district court’s reasonable 
decision to exclude evidence of the “final policymaker” 
theory, we conclude that its overall resolution of the 
First Amendment retaliation claim against the District 
was erroneous. Specifically, the district court erred in 
granting the District’s Rule 50(a) motion with respect to 
the First Amendment claim because a reasonable jury 
could have concluded that Hartzell was unconstitutionally 
banned based on official District policy. The provision 
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of Policy KFA banning “speech .  .  . that is offensive or 
inappropriate” would be unconstitutional if applied to ban 
Hartzell for criticizing Divijak. And Hartzell presented 
sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to conclude that 
the District relied on this policy, rather than Hartzell’s 
alleged assault on Divijak, to ban Hartzell from the Dove 
Mountain school premises.

1. 	 Constitutionality of Policy KFA

The District contends that Policy KFA is constitutional 
because it prohibits only “interference with or disruption 
of an educational institution.” On its own, there would be 
little doubt that this prohibition is constitutional. However, 
this sentence does not stand alone; instead, Policy KFA 
provides an expansive definition of “interference with” 
and “disruption of” that forms the basis of Hartzell’s 
constitutional challenge. Policy KFA defines “interfer[ing] 
with or disrupt[ing]” an educational institution to include, 
among other things, “[u]se of speech or language that 
is offensive or inappropriate to the limited forum of the 
public school educational environment.” “If there is a 
bedrock principle underlying the First Amendment, it is 
that the government may not prohibit the expression of an 
idea simply because society finds the idea itself offensive 
or disagreeable.” Snyder v. Phelps, 562 U.S. 443, 458, 
131 S. Ct. 1207, 179 L. Ed. 2d 172 (2011) (quoting Texas 
v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, 414, 109 S. Ct. 2533, 105 L. Ed. 
2d 342 (1989)). Because Policy KFA allows the District to 
prohibit speech that it finds “offensive or inappropriate,” 
it runs afoul of this principle. See id.
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The District defends Policy KFA by arguing that 
schools nevertheless have substantial authority to regulate 
speech on school grounds. It is certainly true that “courts 
must apply the First Amendment ‘in light of the special 
characteristics of the school environment.’” Mahanoy 
Area Sch. Dist. v. B.L. ex rel. Levy, 594 U.S. 180, 187, 141 
S. Ct. 2038, 210 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2021) (quoting Hazelwood 
Sch. Dist. v. Kuhlmeier, 484 U.S. 260, 266, 108 S. Ct. 562, 
98 L. Ed. 2d 592 (1988)). Even so, for “school officials to 
justify prohibition of a particular expression of opinion, 
[they] must be able to show that [their] action was caused 
by something more than a mere desire to avoid the 
discomfort and unpleasantness that always accompany 
an unpopular viewpoint.” Tinker v. Des Moines Indep. 
Cmty. Sch. Dist., 393 U.S. 503, 509, 89 S. Ct. 733, 21 L. 
Ed. 2d 731 (1969). “Certainly where there is no finding 
and no showing that engaging in the forbidden conduct 
would ‘materially and substantially interfere with the 
requirements of appropriate discipline in the operation 
of the school,’ the prohibition cannot be sustained.” Id. 
(quoting Burnside v. Byars, 363 F.2d 744, 749 (5th Cir. 
1966)); accord id. at 513 (using the equivalent phrase 
“materially disrupts classwork or involves substantial 
disorder or invasion of the rights of others”).

Here, the District has failed to make this showing. 
First, Hartzell proffered testimony that she did not grab 
Divijak’s arm, but merely accidentally touched Divijak’s 
arm as she walked by. A reasonable jury could infer 
from this testimony that Hartzell was banned for her 
speech during her encounter with Divijak as opposed to 
any physical contact. “‘[P]ure speech’ .  .  . is entitled to 
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comprehensive protection under the First Amendment.” 
Tinker, 393 U.S. at 505–06.

Second, the District’s interest in disciplining and 
protecting students was not in play. The speaker was a 
parent rather than a student, the parent was speaking to 
another adult, and the only child within earshot was the 
speaker’s own. On these facts, the District does not have 
a special interest in regulating speech because it is not 
standing “in the place of parents,” as sometimes occurs 
when regulating student speech. Mahanoy, 594 U.S. at 
187.

Third, to be sure, schools have “an interest in 
protecting minors from exposure to vulgar and offensive 
spoken language.” Bethel Sch. Dist. No. 403 v. Fraser, 478 
U.S. 675, 684, 106 S. Ct. 3159, 92 L. Ed. 2d 549 (1986). But 
although Hartzell’s speech was critical and sarcastic, it 
was not vulgar or lewd like the speech described in Bethel. 
See id. at 678 (use “of an elaborate, graphic, and explicit 
sexual metaphor” during school assembly). Bethel also 
recognized a school’s interest in “prohibit[ing] the use of 
vulgar and offensive terms in public discourse.” See id. at 
683. However, unlike a “school assembly or a classroom” 
with an “unsuspecting audience of . . . students,” id. at 685, 
the need to teach students the “appropriate form of civil 
discourse” does not arise when the speech at issue is made 
by a parent to an administrator outside of the presence 
of students except for the parent’s child. Id. at 683, 685.

The Supreme Court has identified a few other 
categories of speech that schools have a special interest 



Appendix A

26a

in regulating, but Hartzell’s speech fits none of them. 
See Mahanoy, 594 U.S. at 187–88 (identifying properly 
regulated categories of speech, including speech promoting 
illegal conduct and speech others may reasonably perceive 
as being endorsed by the school).

Finally, although Hartzell’s speech occurred on 
school property, Hartzell had been invited to attend 
the presentations of her children, and Divijak had been 
speaking with other parents. In that context, it was not 
disruptive or intrusive for Hartzell to approach Divijak 
and express concerns related to her children’s education.

The District cannot constitutionally prohibit all 
speech on school property that it finds “offensive or 
inappropriate.” Nor can the District prohibit that speech 
simply by defining it as disruptive or intrusive. Clearly, 
the District can prohibit offensive or inappropriate 
speech if it “materially and substantially interfere[s] 
with the requirements of appropriate discipline in the 
operation of the school[.]” Tinker, 393 U.S. at 509 (quoting 
Burnside, 363 F.2d at 749). Although “undifferentiated 
fear or apprehension of disturbance is not enough to 
overcome the right to freedom of expression,” “facts which 
might reasonably have led school authorities to forecast 
substantial disruption of or material interference with 
school activities” could be different. Id. at 508, 514. Such 
facts are not present here.

As a result, the provision of Policy KFA barring 
“speech .  .  . that is offensive or inappropriate” is 
unconstitutional if the District applied it to ban Hartzell 
because of her criticism of Divijak.
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2. 	 Whether Hartzell was Banned Pursuant 
to Policy KFA

At trial, the parties presented conflicting testimony 
and theories to establish the reason Hartzell was banned 
from Dove Mountain. Based on this conflicting evidence, 
a reasonable jury could credit the evidence that Hartzell 
was banned because she intentionally touched or grabbed 
Divijak. A jury could also credit the testimony that the 
District did not rely on Policy KFA in banning Hartzell 
and that Divijak did not have authority under Policy KFA 
to ban Hartzell from Dove Mountain. But this disputed 
testimony presents a factual question, and “[a] question of 
fact may be resolved as a matter of law” only if “reasonable 
minds cannot differ and the evidence permits only one 
conclusion.” Quiksilver, 466 F.3d at 759.

Hartzell presented evidence from which a reasonable 
jury could infer that (1) Policy KFA allowed the District 
to ban those whose speech the District deemed offensive 
or inappropriate, (2) Divijak found Hartzell’s advocacy 
offensive, and (3) she was banned after criticizing Divijak. 
Thus, as we explain next, Hartzell presented sufficient 
evidence from which the jury could have concluded that 
the District banned her for offensive or inappropriate 
speech pursuant to an official policy in violation of the 
First Amendment.

We first consider whether Hartzell presented 
sufficient evidence from which the jury could infer that 
District policy allowed Divijak or other District employees 
to ban parents from school premises for offensive speech. 
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The most significant evidence on this point is Policy 
KFA, which expressly prohibits “speech or language 
that is offensive or inappropriate to the limited forum of 
the public school educational environment.” Addressing 
this policy, Assistant Superintendent Dumler testified, 
albeit equivocally, that parents could be banned from 
school premises because of offensive or inappropriate 
speech. When asked whether the District had a policy 
of “allow[ing] for someone to be banned due to speech,” 
she responded, “[y]es,” but then immediately stated “not 
due to speech,” but “due to offensive or belligerent or 
disorderly conduct. There’s a couple of different phrases in 
the policy.” She then provided one example of the District 
banning someone “because of aggressive, belligerent, 
obnoxious cursing and swearing at referees and coaches” 
at a sporting event. She testified that in her 20 years 
working in the District’s administration, this was the 
only incident in which a parent was trespassed from any 
district property.7 However, the evidence must be viewed 
in the light most favorable to Hartzell, and a reasonable 
jury could find that Policy KFA authorized the ban Divijak 
imposed here.

Next, a jury could infer that Divijak found Hartzell’s 
criticisms offensive from the facts of the February 7, 
2020 incident. Hartzell sarcastically thanked Divijak 

7.  Although Dumler did not refer to the policy that she was 
discussing as the Policy KFA, her description of that policy as 
including “a couple of different phrases” and as including the 
word “offensive” tracks with the language of the Policy KFA. 
Therefore, a reasonable jury could infer that Dumler’s testimony 
referred to Policy KFA.
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for “making [her] choose which kid [she was] going to 
support again today[,]” and a reasonable jury could find 
that Divijak would be offended by this statement. Divijak’s 
reaction to Hartzell’s speech would also support a jury 
finding that she was offended. For example, Divijak 
walked away from Hartzell while Hartzell was still 
speaking, and Divijak shouted at Hartzell after Hartzell 
touched her arm.8 And after the incident, Divijak was 
“crying,” she requested that Ysaguirre give Hartzell a 
trespass warning, and she told him that she wanted to 
press charges against Hartzell.

Finally, Hartzell was banned a short time after the 
encounter with Divijak. Because a reasonable jury could 
find that Policy KFA authorized Divijak to ban parents 
whose speech she found offensive and that Hartzell was 
banned almost immediately after saying things Divijak 
could reasonably find offensive, a reasonable jury could 
also find that Policy KFA was a moving force behind the 
ban on Hartzell.

Our opinion in Eagle Point Education Ass’n/SOBC/
OEA v. Jackson County School District No. 9, 880 F.3d 
1097 (9th Cir. 2018), further supports Hartzell’s theory of 
the District’s Monell liability based on an official policy. In 
that case, a school district adopted policies in anticipation 
of a teacher’s strike that prohibited, among other things, 
signs and banners at any district facilities without the 

8.  Of course, Divijak’s position is that Hartzell grabbed her 
wrist. However, Hartzell denies this, and the evidence at this 
stage of the litigation must be viewed in the light most favorable 
to Hartzell.
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approval of the district superintendent. Id. at 1100. A 
student filed suit against the district, alleging violations 
of the First Amendment, after a district security guard 
prohibited her from parking her car in a school lot with 
a sign in the back windshield stating that she supported 
the teachers. Id. at 1101. The school district argued “that 
[a] restriction imposed on [a student’s speech] was not 
an application of the District[’s] policies.” Id. at 1107. 
“Specifically, it contend[ed] that [the student] was a victim 
of [a] security guard’s own decision, not [the challenged 
policy].” Id. We rejected that argument because the 
security guard’s action “was by no means an implausible 
interpretation” of the relevant policy. “Moreover, at the 
time of the incident, the high school’s assistant principal 
did not tell [the student] that the guard had made a 
mistake.” Id. at 1107–08. Instead, the assistant principal 
said the student’s conduct was “forbidden.” Id. at 1108.9 
We found there was “no suggestion that the security 
officer would have taken any action but for the adoption 
and enforcement of the policies,” and we affirmed a grant 
of summary judgment in the plaintiff’s favor. Id. at 1107.

Here, Hartzell contends she was banned pursuant to 
a District policy prohibiting “offensive speech,” while the 
District denies that Hartzell was banned based on her 
speech and instead contends that Hartzell was banned 
for her conduct, alleging that she assaulted Divijak. As 
explained above, a reasonable jury could conclude that 
Policy KFA allows members of the public to be banned from 

9.  The record in Eagle Point did not indicate that the assistant 
principal or the security guard invoked the policy challenged by 
the plaintiff. See id. at 1101.
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schools for offensive or inappropriate speech, Hartzell’s 
speech could be viewed as offensive or inappropriate, and 
Hartzell was banned. Moreover, a reasonable jury could 
conclude that Divijak relied on Policy KFA to ban Hartzell, 
and Divijak’s conduct in banning Hartzell would not have 
been an “implausible interpretation” of the policy. See 
id. at 1107–08. And like the assistant principal in Eagle 
Point, here the superintendent did not revoke the ban as 
a mistake or suggest that Divijak lacked authority to ban 
Hartzell. Instead, the superintendent stated that the ban 
“would remain indefinitely and that the decision was final.”

The District’s arguments that the district court 
properly granted its Rule 50 motion are not persuasive: 
they are based on disputed facts, and from these facts 
a reasonable jury could find that Hartzell was banned 
pursuant to official District policy. First, although Dumler 
testified that Divijak had no authority to ban anyone 
under Policy KFA, a jury could reject this testimony. 
Moreover, the course of events in this case could support 
a finding that Divijak had the authority to ban Hartzell. 
Specifically, there was evidence that Divijak requested 
the trespass order, and as previously discussed, the 
District Superintendent did not revoke the ban but instead 
confirmed that it would remain in effect.

Second, the District argues that Hartzell denied 
violating the policy and thus could not have been ejected 
pursuant to it. This argument fails because the District 
could have banned Hartzell pursuant to Policy KFA for 
“offensive speech,” even though Hartzell denied that 
she violated the policy. Indeed, Hartzell testified that 
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she believed that she did not violate Policy KFA but was 
excluded because the District decided she had violated it.

Third, the District argues that various witnesses 
testified that it did not rely on Policy KFA to ban Hartzell. 
A jury could credit this testimony and reject Hartzell’s 
claims, but because all reasonable inferences must 
presently be drawn in Hartzell’s favor, this argument 
does not entitle the District to judgment as a matter of 
law. There is sufficient evidence in the record to permit a 
reasonable jury to find that Hartzell was banned pursuant 
to Policy KFA.

Accordingly, the district court erred in granting 
judgment as a matter of law to the District on Hartzell’s 
First Amendment claim because a reasonable jury could 
conclude that Hartzell was banned pursuant to the 
District’s “expressly adopted official policy.” Gordon, 6 
F.4th at 973 (quoting Monell, 436 U.S. at 694).

C. 	 The “Custom and Practice” Theory

Turning to Hartzell’s “custom and practice” theory 
of Monell liability, she argues that, even if the evidence 
she presented at trial was not sufficient, that was because 
she relied on the district court’s statement that she had 
already established liability under this theory.

At trial, the District objected to the relevance of 
questions by Hartzell’s counsel about whether there was a 
practice of retaliation for speech in the District. Hartzell’s 
counsel explained that the purpose of his questioning was 



Appendix A

33a

“to show that there’s a custom within the district of similar 
retaliatory conduct.” The district court responded that 
Hartzell had “established that” but the current question 
sought “basically an admission by the [testifying witness] 
that there is a custom or practice.”

Although the district court’s response lacked 
precision, read in context, it is clear that the district court 
was acknowledging that Hartzell had established why a 
custom of retaliatory conduct would be relevant, not that 
Hartzell had established that this custom existed. Indeed, 
the following day, Hartzell’s counsel argued that the 
district court had ruled that he had established a custom 
of retaliation and so counsel concluded that he did not need 
“to keep pushing this anymore.” The district court clearly 
rejected counsel’s characterization of its ruling sustaining 
the relevance objection, stating “You misunderstand my 
comments, Counsel. I didn’t say you’d established custom, 
policy or practice. That’s what the whole case is about, 
basically. If I had done that, I guess I could have done a 
directed verdict in your favor.”

Moreover, even if the district court had expressed 
the latter belief, nothing barred the district court 
from reconsidering its conclusion. “As long as a district 
court has jurisdiction over the case, then it possesses 
the inherent procedural power to reconsider, rescind, 
or modify an interlocutory order for cause seen by it 
to be sufficient.” City of Los Angeles v. Santa Monica 
Baykeeper, 254 F.3d 882, 889 (9th Cir. 2001) (quoting 
Melancon v. Texaco, Inc., 659 F.2d 551, 553 (5th Cir. Oct. 
Unit A 1981)). Accordingly, the district court was not 
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bound by any mid-trial determination about the sufficiency 
of Hartzell’s evidence.

In her reply brief, Hartzell also argues that she offered 
sufficient evidence of a custom of retaliation because there 
were several instances when Hartzell or others had been 
banned for their protected speech. However, Hartzell’s 
opening brief argues that the Rule 50(a) motion was 
improperly granted as to the custom theory only because 
of the district court’s statements. Hartzell thus forfeited 
this argument. Miller v. City of Scottsdale, 88 F.4th 800, 
805 n.4 (9th Cir. 2023).

II.	 First Amendment Claim Against Divijak

The district court did not err in concluding that 
Divijak was entitled to qualified immunity on Hartzell’s 
First Amendment retaliation claim.

“Qualified immunity shields government actors from 
civil liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 if ‘their conduct does 
not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional 
rights of which a reasonable person would have known.’” 
Castro v. County of Los Angeles, 833 F.3d 1060, 1066 (9th 
Cir. 2016) (en banc) (quoting Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 
U.S. 800, 818, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982)). 
“To determine whether [a government actor] is entitled to 
qualified immunity, a court must evaluate two independent 
questions: (1) whether the [government actor’s] conduct 
violated a constitutional right, and (2) whether that right 
was clearly established at the time of the incident.” Id. 
As already noted, a reasonable jury could determine that 
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Divijak banned Hartzell in violation of a constitutional 
right. The question is whether that right was clearly 
established.

A right is clearly established “when, at the time of 
the challenged conduct, the contours of the right are 
sufficiently clear that every reasonable official would 
have understood that what he is doing violates that right.” 
Ashcroft v. al-Kidd, 563 U.S. 731, 742, 131 S. Ct. 2074, 179 
L. Ed. 2d 1149 (2011) (cleaned up) (quoting Anderson v. 
Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 640, 107 S. Ct. 3034, 97 L. Ed. 
2d 523 (1987)). “Although the Supreme Court ‘does not 
require a case directly on point for a right to be clearly 
established, existing precedent must have placed the 
statutory or constitutional question beyond debate.’” 
Evans v. Skolnik, 997 F.3d 1060, 1066 (9th Cir. 2021) 
(quoting Kisela v. Hughes, 584 U.S. 100, 104, 138 S. Ct. 
1148, 200 L. Ed. 2d 449 (2018)). The question is beyond 
debate when “there are ‘cases of controlling authority’ 
in the plaintiff[’s] jurisdiction at the time of the incident 
‘which clearly established the rule on which [she] seek[s] to 
rely,’ or ‘a consensus of cases of persuasive authority such 
that a reasonable officer could not have believed that his 
actions were lawful.’” Id. (quoting Wilson v. Layne, 526 
U.S. 603, 617, 119 S. Ct. 1692, 143 L. Ed. 2d 818 (1999)).

“The Supreme Court has ‘repeatedly told courts—
and the Ninth Circuit in particular—not to define clearly 
established law at a high level of generality.’” Id. at 1067 
(quoting al-Kidd, 563 U.S. at 742). In the First Amendment 
context, “the right in question is not the general right to be 
free from retaliation for one’s speech, but the more specific 
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right to be free from” a particular type of government 
action. Reichle v. Howards, 566 U.S. 658, 665, 132 S. Ct. 
2088, 182 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2012) (focusing on the “right to be 
free from a retaliatory arrest that is otherwise supported 
by probable cause”).

Hartzell’s reliance on O’Brien v. Welty, 818 F.3d 920 
(9th Cir. 2016), is misplaced. Although we noted in O’Brien 
that “[t]he constitutional right to be free from retaliation 
[i]s ‘clearly established[,]’” O’Brien arose at the pleading 
stage before “an evidentiary record ha[d] been developed 
through discovery[.]” 818 F.3d at 936 (quoting Krainski v. 
Nevada ex rel. Bd. of Regents, 616 F.3d 963, 970 (9th Cir. 
2010)). Therefore, in O’Brien we decided only the narrow 
point that we could not “determine, based on the complaint 
itself, that qualified immunity applies.” Id. (quoting Groten 
v. California, 251 F.3d 844, 851 (9th Cir. 2001)). Thus, 
O’Brien’s holding does not suggest that, especially at 
summary judgment, the appropriate level of analysis is 
the general right to be free from retaliation.10

Here, qualified immunity applies. “[C]ourts must 
apply the First Amendment ‘in light of the special 
characteristics of the school environment.’” Mahanoy, 

10.  Krainski does not support Hartzell either. Krainski 
merely held that “the doctrine of qualified immunity protects 
state actors when the constitutional right at issue was not ‘clearly 
established’ at the time of the actions at issue.” 616 F.3d at 970 
(quoting Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 202, 121 S. Ct. 2151, 150 
L. Ed. 2d 272 (2001), overruled on other grounds by Pearson v. 
Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 227, 235, 129 S. Ct. 808, 172 L. Ed. 2d 
565 (2009)).
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594 U.S. at 187 (quoting Hazelwood, 484 U.S. at 266). As 
a result, cases arising outside public schools are of limited 
use in evaluating the scope of Hartzell’s First Amendment 
rights here. Hartzell has identified one case arising in 
public schools, Macias v. Filippini, Case No. 1:17-CV-
1251 AWI EPG, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 83574, 2018 WL 
2264243 (E.D. Cal. May 17, 2018). Even accepting that 
Macias is analogous, one district court case is neither a 
case of controlling authority nor a consensus of cases of 
persuasive authority. See Evans, 997 F.3d at 1067.11

In her reply brief, Hartzell argues that an Arizona 
statute regarding misrepresentations to the police 
establishes that Divijak’s conduct violated her clearly 
established rights and that qualif ied immunity is 
inconsistent with the Civil Rights Act of 1871. We do not 
consider these arguments because Hartzell forfeited them 
by presenting them for the first time in her reply brief. 
See Martinez-Serrano v. INS, 94 F.3d 1256, 1259–60 (9th 
Cir. 1996).

Hartzell also argues for the first time in her reply 
brief that “in a sufficiently ‘obvious’ case of constitutional 
misconduct, we do not require a precise factual analogue 
in our judicial precedents.” See Sharp v. County of 
Orange, 871 F.3d 901, 911 (9th Cir. 2017). Hartzell waived 

11.  Hartzell does not identify any cases supporting her view 
that her clearly established rights were violated other than (1) 
those establishing a general right to be free from retaliation and 
(2) Macias v. Filippini, Case No. 1:17-CV-1251 AWI EPG, 2018 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 83574, 2018 WL 2264243 (E.D. Cal. May 17, 
2018), discussed infra.
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this argument twice, first by failing to raise it in her 
opposition to Appellees’ motion for summary judgment 
and again by failing to raise it in her opening brief here. 
See United States v. Robertson, 52 F.3d 789, 791 (9th Cir. 
1994) (“Issues not presented to the district court cannot 
generally be raised for the first time on appeal.”).

For these reasons, the district court’s qualified-
immunity determination was not erroneous.

III. 	 Procedural Due Process

“The Fourteenth Amendment protects individuals 
against the deprivation of liberty or property by the 
government without due process.” Portman v. County of 
Santa Clara, 995 F.2d 898, 904 (9th Cir. 1993). “A section 
1983 claim based upon procedural due process thus has 
three elements: (1) a liberty or property interest protected 
by the Constitution; (2) a deprivation of the interest by 
the government; (3) lack of process.” Id. Here, the district 
court concluded that Hartzell “had no constitutional right 
to access school property, [so] no procedural due process 
was required before [she] was banned from the property.”

The only right Hartzell identified in her First 
Amended Complaint was the “fundamental right to direct 
the education of her children.” Indeed, “the ‘liberty of 
parents and guardians’ includes the right ‘to direct the 
upbringing and education of children under their control.’” 
Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 65, 120 S. Ct. 2054, 147 
L. Ed. 2d 49 (2000) (plurality opinion) (first citing Meyer v. 
Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 399, 401, 43 S. Ct. 625, 67 L. Ed. 
1042 (1923), and then quoting Pierce v. Soc’y of Sisters, 
268 U.S. 510, 535, 45 S. Ct. 571, 69 L. Ed. 1070 (1925)). 
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This is often called the Meyer-Pierce right. However, 
“once parents make the choice as to which school their 
children will attend, their fundamental right to control the 
education of their children is, at the least, substantially 
diminished.” Fields v. Palmdale Sch. Dist., 427 F.3d 1197, 
1206 (9th Cir. 2005), opinion amended on denial of reh’g 
sub nom. Fields v. Palmdale Sch. Dist., 447 F.3d 1187 
(9th Cir. 2006).

Here, Hartzell was banned from accessing school 
property. This does not implicate Hartzell’s right to 
direct her children’s education. Instead, “what Meyer-
Pierce establishes is the right of parents to be free from 
state interference with their choice of the educational 
forum itself, a choice that ordinarily determines the 
type of education one’s child will receive.” Id. at 1207. 
Because Hartzell does not allege that her ability to send 
her children to the school of her choice was restricted, 
the Meyer-Pierce right does not apply. Hartzell seeks to 
distinguish Fields on the grounds that her ban extended 
beyond the schoolhouse itself to the school’s parking lot and 
other facilities. See Fields, 427 F.3d at 1207 (suggesting, in 
now-superseded language, that “the Meyer-Pierce right 
does not extend beyond the threshold of the school door”). 
Setting aside that the language Hartzell relies on was 
superseded, Hartzell takes an overly formalistic view of 
Fields. The quoted language merely reiterates that the 
Meyer-Pierce right allows Hartzell to choose what type 
of school her children attend.

In the alternative, Hartzell argues that her due 
process claim encompassed a First Amendment theory. 
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However, the district court found that she did not allege 
a procedural due process claim in her First Amended 
Complaint. “[A]dding a new theory of liability at the 
summary judgment stage would prejudice the defendant 
who faces different burdens and defenses under [the 
new] theory of liability.” Coleman v. Quaker Oats Co., 
232 F.3d 1271, 1292 (9th Cir. 2000). Accordingly, “[a]fter 
having focused on [one theory] in their complaint and 
during discovery, [plaintiffs] cannot turn around and 
surprise the [defendant] at the summary judgment stage” 
with a completely different theory. Id. at 1292–93. The 
plaintiff’s claim cannot survive when “the complaint gave 
the [defendant] no notice of the specific factual allegations 
presented for the first time in [the] opposition to summary 
judgment.” Pickern v. Pier 1 Imps. (U.S.), Inc., 457 F.3d 
963, 969 (9th Cir. 2006).

The district court did not err in finding that Hartzell’s 
First Amended Complaint did not adequately disclose 
this theory. There, after a more thorough discussion of 
the right to direct the education of her children, Hartzell 
alleged only that “[t]he Due Process Clause of the 
Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the government from 
censoring speech pursuant to vague standards that grant 
unbridled discretion.” Although this allegation uses the 
phrase “censoring speech,” it does not mention either the 
First Amendment or retaliation. Also, while this allegation 
states a legal principle, it does not identify which liberty 
or property interest Hartzell was allegedly deprived of or 
what the District did to deprive her of it. “[T]he necessary 
factual averments are required with respect to each 
material element of the underlying legal theory. . . .” Wasco 
Prods., Inc. v. Southwall Techs., Inc., 435 F.3d 989, 992 
(9th Cir. 2006) (alteration in original) (quoting Fleming 
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v. Lind-Waldock & Co., 922 F.2d 20, 24 (1st Cir. 1990)). 
Summary judgment is not “a procedural second chance 
to flesh out inadequate pleadings.” Id. (quoting same). 
Finally, although the First Amended Complaint invoked 
the First Amendment in a separate § 1983 claim alleging 
retaliation, First Amendment retaliation and procedural 
process claims involve different burdens and defenses. 
Therefore, the District would have been prejudiced if 
Hartzell were permitted to proceed on a First Amendment 
theory that she had not pled in the operative complaint.

The district court also did not abuse its discretion 
in denying Hartzell’s motion to amend the First 
Amended Complaint to add a First Amendment theory 
to her procedural due process claim. The district court 
entered a scheduling order with a deadline to amend the 
pleadings. Hartzell filed her motion after that deadline. 
Accordingly, Hartzell needed to satisfy Rule 16(b)’s “good 
cause” standard to be permitted to amend. See Johnson 
v. Mammoth Recreations, Inc., 975 F.2d 604, 608–09 
(9th Cir. 1992). That standard “primarily considers the 
diligence of the party seeking the amendment,” and “[i]f 
that party was not diligent, the inquiry should end.” Id. at 
609. Here, Hartzell waited more than two months after the 
district court’s summary judgment ruling before moving 
to amend the First Amended Complaint. The district 
court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Hartzell 
was not diligent.

Even if Hartzell had satisfied Rule 16’s “good cause” 
standard, the district court would not have abused its 
discretion in concluding that prejudice to the District 
would provide an independent basis for denying leave 
to amend. See Coleman, 232 F.3d at 1295 (noting that 
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“prejudice to [the defendant], although not required under 
Rule 16(b), supplies an additional reason for denying” leave 
to amend). As the district court noted, granting leave to 
amend would have prejudiced the District by negating 
its summary judgment victory and potentially requiring 
another round of summary judgment briefing.

IV.	 Defamation

The district court erred in granting summary 
judgment in Divijak’s favor on part of Hartzell’s defamation 
claim. In presenting her defamation claim, Hartzell sought 
to rely on two documents allegedly sent to her employer.12 
A jury could find one of those documents defamatory, but 
the district court correctly granted summary judgment 
with respect to the other document. “To support a claim for 
defamation, a statement about a private figure on a matter 
of private concern ‘must be false’ and must bring the subject 
of the statement ‘into disrepute, contempt, or ridicule’ 
or impeach the subject’s ‘honesty, integrity, virtue, or 
reputation.’” Takieh v. O’Meara, 252 Ariz. 51, 497 P.3d 
1000, 1006 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2021) (quoting Turner v. Devlin, 
174 Ariz. 201, 848 P.2d 286, 288–89 (Ariz. 1993) (in banc)).

This principle establishes two limits on defamation 
claims. First, “[w]hile any disparaging statement can 
cause reputational harm, a true statement cannot support 

12.  In a footnote, the Appellees suggest that Hartzell may 
have failed to preserve this ground of appeal by not seeking to 
admit the two documents at trial. Because the district court ruled 
at summary judgment that Hartzell could not present a defamation 
claim using these documents, she was not required to seek their 
admission at trial to present this argument on appeal.
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a claim for defamation.” Id. (citing Read v. Phoenix 
Newspapers, Inc., 169 Ariz. 353, 819 P.2d 939, 941 (Ariz. 
1991) (in banc)).

Second, “a statement is not actionable if it is comprised 
of ‘loose, figurative, or hyperbolic language’ that cannot 
reasonably be interpreted as stating or implying facts 
‘susceptible of being proved true or false.’” Id. (quoting 
Milkovich v. Lorain J. Co., 497 U.S. 1, 21, 110 S. Ct. 2695, 
111 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1990)). “The key inquiry is whether the 
challenged expression, however labeled by the defendant, 
would reasonably appear to state or imply assertions 
of objective fact,” which depends on “the impression 
created by the words used as well as the general tenor 
of the expression, from the point of view of a reasonable 
person at the time the statement was uttered and under 
the circumstances it was made.” Id. (internal quotation 
marks omitted) (quoting Yetman v. English, 168 Ariz. 
71, 811 P.2d 323, 328 (Ariz. 1991) (in banc); then quoting 
Sign Here Petitions LLC v. Chavez, 243 Ariz. 99, 402 
P.3d 457, 463 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2017)). “[S]tatements cast as 
subjective beliefs are generally insulated from defamation 
liability[].  .  .  .” Id. However, statements of opinion are 
actionable “when they imply a false assertion of fact” or 
when they “may be proven false[.]” Id. (quoting Turner, 
848 P.2d at 293). They are not actionable when they do not 
“present ‘the kind of empirical question a fact-finder can 
resolve.’” Id. (quoting Yetman, 811 P.2d at 333).

We begin our analysis with the first document. That 
document is a printout of a docket sheet reflecting the 
criminal charges brought against Hartzell after the 
February 7, 2020 incident. That printout says Hartzell 
was charged with knowingly touching someone with intent 
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to injure, insult, or provoke that person. The printout 
contains a typewritten note reading, “This occurred at a 
K-8 school in front of young children. Doesn’t seem like 
this is the kind of person that should be training teachers 
let alone working with kids.”

Divijak argues that the first sentence “simply informs 
the reader that the incident underlying the charged 
crime occurred at [a] K-8 school.” This sentence does not 
explicitly state that Hartzell had engaged in the conduct 
identified in the document. However, one reasonable 
inference from the phrase “this occurred” is that the 
underlying event actually occurred. The printout indicates 
that Hartzell was charged with a particular crime. A 
reasonable person could read the note as an allegation 
that Hartzell committed that crime. This reading is 
supported by the rest of the sentence. If “this occurred” 
meant only that the charges had been brought, it would 
not make sense to say that the charges were brought 
at a school or that they were brought in front of young 
children. A reasonable jury could find that the author 
meant that the charged crime was what had occurred. 
Whether Hartzell “knowingly touch[ed Divijak with] the 
intent to inj[ure]/insult/provoke” is a fact rather than an 
opinion, and because Hartzell has offered testimony that 
this fact was false, she has created a triable issue as to 
whether this document is defamatory.

The second sentence in the note, which opines that 
Hartzell is not suited for training teachers, would likely 
not be actionable standing alone. In context, however, 
that sentence supports the view that the note could be 
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actionable defamation. That sentence immediately follows, 
and explains the relevance of, the statement that “this 
occurred.” As a result, the writer implied that “this” 
was relevant to their view of Hartzell’s fitness for her 
profession. False or unfounded criminal charges would 
not necessarily affect someone’s fitness as a trainer of 
teachers. True ones would be far more likely to have that 
effect. As a result, the second sentence suggests that a 
reasonable person could read this note as claiming that 
the charges against Hartzell were based on an incident 
that had actually occurred.

However, a reasonable jury could not find the 
second document defamatory. That document is a typed, 
unsigned, one-paragraph note stating that Hartzell had 
been using her university email account to “harass, 
bully, intimidate[,] and threaten people.” The note also 
states that “[a] full audit of her account will verify these 
accusations. Additionally, I have great concern about her 
mental health.”

We agree with Divijak and the district court that, 
at least in this context, the words “harass,” “bully,” 
“intimidate,” and “threaten” cannot be actionable because 
they “merely describe how the author of the Second 
Document interpreted Plaintiff ’s communications.” 
Arizona courts have considered dictionary definitions to 
determine whether certain statements were actionable. 
See, e.g., Takieh, 497 P.3d at 1007. Each of the terms used 
here has at least one definition that reflects a subjective 
opinion or belief rather than an objective, provable fact. 
“Bully” is defined as “to treat (someone) in a cruel, 
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insulting, threatening, or aggressive fashion,” or “to use 
language or behavior that is cruel, insulting, threatening, 
or aggressive.” Bully, Merriam-Webster.com, https://
www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/bully [https://
perma.cc/WT4N-CFRK]. “Harass” is defined as “to 
annoy persistently,” or “to create an unpleasant or hostile 
situation for especially by uninvited and unwelcome verbal 
or physical conduct.” Harass, Merriam-Webster.com, 
https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/harass 
[https://perma.cc/SB59-9JM6]. “Intimidate” is defined 
as “to make timid or fearful[;] frighten,” or “to compel 
or deter by or as if by threats.” Intimidate, Merriam-
Webster.com, https://w w w.merriam-webster.com/
dictionary/intimidate [https://perma.cc/DNL9-74MH]. 
And “threaten” is defined as “to utter threats against,” 
or “to cause to feel insecure or anxious.” Threaten, 
Merriam-Webster.com, https://www.merriam-webster.
com/dictionary/threaten [https://perma.cc/S9MT-6DRF]. 
Nothing in the second document suggests that “bully,” 
“harass,” “intimidate,” or “threaten” is being used to 
do anything more than describe the author’s subjective 
reaction to Hartzell’s e-mails.13

Nor does the rest of the second document change the 
result of our analysis. The statement that the author has 
“great concern” about Hartzell’s mental health is entirely 
subjective. Although the author indicated that their 
accusations could be “verif[ied]” by reviewing Hartzell’s 
email account, we do not believe this statement, standing 

13.  We express no view on whether these words could be 
actionable in another context, such as where the plaintiff is accused 
of engaging in sexual harassment or making criminal threats.
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alone, alters the typically subjective meaning of “harass,” 
“bully,” “intimidate,” or “threaten.”

Accordingly, the district court’s grant of summary 
judgment on Hartzell’s defamation claim is reversed, but 
only to the extent that claim rests on the first document.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, we affirm the district 
court’s ruling that Hartzell may not proceed on a Monell 
claim against the District based on a “final policymaker” 
theory or a “custom and practice” theory, that the First 
Amendment retaliation claim against Divijak fails 
because she has qualified immunity, and that the claim 
for procedural due process fails. However, we reverse 
in part because the First Amendment retaliation claim 
against the District is viable to the extent it is based on 
District Policy KFA, and because the defamation claim 
is viable to the extent it is based on one of the documents 
sent to Hartzell’s employer. We remand for retrial of the 
referenced defamation claim against Divijak, and the 
§  1983 Monell claim against the District based on the 
theory that Hartzell was banned from school property 
pursuant to the District Policy KFA.

REVERSED in part, AFFIRMED in part, and 
REMANDED.

Each side shall bear its own costs on appeal.
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APPENDIX B — ORDER OF THE UNITED STATES  
DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA, 

FILED MARCH 9, 2023

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

No. CV-21-00062-TUC-SHR

REBECCA HARTZELL, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MARANA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, et al., 

Defendants.

Filed March 9, 2023

ORDER RE: DEFENDANTS’  
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Pending before the Court is a Motion for Summary 
Judgment (Doc. 38) (the “Motion”) filed by Defendants 
Marana Unified School District (the “District”) and 
Andrea Divijak (collectively “Defendants”). This action 
arises from an interaction between a parent and a 
principal at a school event and the parent’s subsequent 
ban from the school. For the reasons below, the Motion is 
granted-in part and denied-in part.
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I. 	 FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The following facts are derived from the parties’ 
statements of facts and are undisputed for the purpose 
of summary judgment. In August 2019, the District 
opened Dove Mountain CSTEM K-8 (the “School”), a new 
kindergarten through eighth grade school. (DSOF ¶ 1, 
Exh. 1 at 17–18; PCSOF ¶ 1.)1 Five of Plaintiff Rebecca 
Hartzell’s children were enrolled at the School. (DSOF 
¶ 2; PCSOF ¶ 2.) Divijak is the School’s current principal 
and was the principal during the 2019-2020 academic year. 
(DSOF ¶ 3, Exh. 1 at 13; PCSOF ¶ 3.)

A. 	 February 7, 2020 School Event

On February 7, 2020, the School hosted an event where 
students showcased and presented projects to teachers, 
parents, and other students. (DSOF ¶  4; PCSOF ¶  4.) 
Plaintiff’s children participated in this event and two 
of her children were scheduled to present at the same 
time in the first of two time slots. (DSOF ¶¶ 5–6; PCSOF 
¶¶  5–6.) At the event, Plaintiff approached Divijak to 
discuss and complain about the scheduling of her children’s 
presentations. (DSOF ¶  7; PCSOF ¶  7.) Divijak spoke 
to Plaintiff and stated she was not going to discuss the 
matter at that time. (DSOF ¶ 9, Exh. 3 at 30–31; PCSOF 
¶ 9.) Divijak then sought to end the interaction by walking 
away from Plaintiff. (DSOF ¶¶ 10–11, Ex. 2 ¶¶ 7–8; PCSOF 
¶ 10–11.) As Divijak was walking away, Plaintiff said the 

1.  DSOF is Defendants’ Statement of Facts and PCSOF is 
Plaintiff’s Controverting Statement of Facts. DSOF is docketed 
at item 39 in the electronic record (Doc. 39); PCSOF is docketed 
at item 47 (See Doc. 47 at 2–11).
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conversation was not over and that Divijak should not 
walk away from her. (DSOF ¶ 11, Exh. 2 ¶ 8; PCSOF ¶ 11.) 
Plaintiff and Divijak then physically made contact,2 and 
Divijak told Plaintiff something like, “You will not touch 
me.” (DSOF ¶¶ 12–14, Exh. 2 ¶¶ 9–10, Exh. 3 at 32–33, 
37–38; PCSOF ¶¶ 12–14, Exh. 1, Exh. 4 ¶ 6; PRSOF ¶ 10.)3

Divijak walked away and subsequently informed 
the School Associate Principal Bronwyn Sternberg 
and School Monitor John McKenna of the interaction. 
(DSOF ¶ 16, Exh. 1 at 112–113; PCSOF ¶ 16, Exh. 3 at 
1:44–1:57.) McKenna suggested Divijak call 911 to have a 
Marana Police Department (“MPD”) officer come to the 
School. (DSOF ¶ 17, Exh. 1 at 113; PCSOF ¶ 17.) Before 
MPD arrived at the School, McKenna and Sternberg 
approached Plaintiff and asked her to leave the School. 
(DSOF ¶ 18, Exh. 3 at 42; PCSOF ¶ 18.) After a brief verbal 
exchange, Plaintiff complied with the request. (DSOF ¶ 19; 
PCSOF ¶ 19, Exh. 7 at 1:54:10–1:55:30.) Around this time, 
MPD officers arrived and began investigating. (DSOF 
¶  20, Exh. 1 at 123; PCSOF ¶  20.) MPD Officer Jerry 
Ysaguirre (“Officer Ysaguirre”) spoke with Plaintiff. 

2.  The parties dispute the nature and extent of the physical 
contact. (See Doc. 38 at 9; Doc. 46 at 1.) Plaintiff asserts she did 
not “grab” Divijak for any amount of time and any touching “was 
no more than incidental and unintentional” contact caused by 
Divijak charging toward her. (PCSOF ¶¶ 12–13; PRSOF ¶¶ 1–10, 
12.) Defendants claim Plaintiff reached out and grabbed Divijak’s 
left wrist and Divijak pulled her “left arm away from Plaintiff in an 
effort to break free from Plaintiff’s grasp.” (DSOF, Exh. 2 ¶¶ 9–10.)

3.  PRSOF is Plaintiff’s additional Responsive Statement 
of Facts filed along with her Controverting Statement of Facts. 
PRSOF is docketed at item 47 in the electronic record. (See Doc. 
47 at 11–23.)
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(DSOF ¶ 21, Exh. 4 at 1; PCSOF ¶ 21.) Plaintiff told Officer 
Ysaguirre she “reached out and put [her] hand on Divijak.” 
(DSOF ¶ 22, Exh. 3 at 37–38, Exh. 4 at 2; PCSOF ¶ 22.) At 
the conclusion of Plaintiff’s interview, Officer Ysaguirre 
informed Plaintiff she was trespassed from School property 
and explained what that meant for her. (DSOF ¶¶ 24–25, 
Exh. 3 at 46, Exh. 4 at 2; PCSOF ¶ 24–25.) The following 
day, Officer Ysaguirre spoke to the only non-party adult 
witness who saw the interaction—Mr. Gute. (DSOF, Exh. 4 
at 1–2, 4–5; PCSOF ¶ 20, Exhs. 5, 7; PRSOF ¶ 3, Exh. 4 ¶ 2.) 
The matter was referred to the Marana Town Attorney’s 
Office. (DSOF ¶ 27, Exh. 5; PCSOF ¶ 27.)

B. 	 The February 24, 2020 Meeting and Follow-up

Plaintiff requested a meeting with the District’s 
Superintendent Dr. Doug Wilson. (DSOF ¶ 32, Exh. 3 at 
47–48; PCSOF, Exh. 10 at 2–8.) On February 24, 2020, 
Dr. Wilson met with Plaintiff and her counsel, confirmed 
Plaintiff ’s restrictions, and continued Plaintiff ’s ban 
from the School. (DSOF ¶¶ 32–33, 36, Exh. 3 at 47–48; 
PCSOF ¶¶ 32–33, 36; PRSOF ¶¶ 31–32, Exh. 4 ¶¶ 17–18.) 
Later that evening, Plaintiff sent an email to Dr. Wilson’s 
secretary asking for clarification from Dr. Wilson about 
her discussion with him. (DSOF ¶ 40, Exh. 3 at 76, Exh. 
8 at 1–2; PCSOF ¶ 40, Exh. 10 at 2–3.) No one from the 
District responded to Plaintiff’s email. (DSOF Exh. 3 at 
76–77; PCSOF ¶ 40.) Plaintiff did not follow up with anyone 
from the District after sending this email. (DSOF ¶ 41, 
Exh. 3 at 77–78; PCSOF ¶ 41.)4

4.  Plaintiff claims to dispute this fact but cites no evidence 
to support she followed up with the District. (See PCSOF ¶ 41 
citing PRSOF ¶ 57.)
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During the third week of March 2020, the District’s 
spring break occurred. (DSOF ¶ 42, Exh. 2 ¶ 12; PCSOF 
¶  42.) After spring break, the School began remote 
instruction due to COVID-19 and this became the method 
of instruction for the rest of the academic year. (DSOF 
¶¶ 43–44, Exh. 1 at 25–26; PCSOF ¶¶ 43–44.) Sometime 
thereafter, Plaintiff moved and enrolled her children in 
another school district. (DSOF ¶ 45; PCSOF ¶ 45.)

C. 	 Criminal Case

Plaintiff’s Criminal Case was initiated on March 30, 
2020 and Plaintiff was charged with assault pursuant to 
A.R.S. § 13-1203(A)(3) in Marana Municipal Court Case 
No. CM202000276 (the “Criminal Case”). (DSOF ¶¶ 27–
28, Exh. 5; PCSOF ¶¶ 27–28.) At the request of Senior 
Assistant Town Attorney Libby Shelton, the Criminal 
Case was dismissed on September 22, 2020. (DSOF 
¶¶ 28–29, Exh. 6; PCSOF ¶ 28–29.)

D. 	 Documents sent in October 2020 and April 2021

Around October 1, 2020, Plaintiff ’s supervisor 
informed Plaintiff that a document (“First Document”) 
regarding Plaintiff was delivered to her department—
Plaintiff is employed by the University of Arizona (the 
“University”) College of Education.5 (DSOF ¶¶  46–47, 
Exh. 3 at 8, 88; PCSOF ¶¶ 46–47.) This First Document 
was a printout of the Criminal Case docket with additional 
statements typed onto the top of the document. (DSOF 

5.  Plaintiff is employed at the University as the Director of 
the Master’s Program in Applied Behavior Analysis and as an 
Assistant Professor of Practice. (DSOF ¶ 46; PCSOF ¶ 46.)
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¶ 48; PCSOF ¶ 48.) In late April 2021, Plaintiff became 
aware of an unsigned note (“Second Document”) dated 
April 23, 2021 that was mailed and delivered to the 
University’s Compliance Office. (DSOF ¶  52, Exh. 3 at 
101–102, Exh. 9; PCSOF ¶ 52.)

E. 	 Procedural History

Plaintiff began this action in February 2021 (Doc. 1) 
and filed her First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) in April 
2021 (Doc. 16). Plaintiff’s FAC raised the following five 
counts: (1) 42 U.S.C. § 1983 first amendment retaliation 
against all Defendants; (2) Ariz. Const. art. II, § 6 free 
speech retaliation against all Defendants; (3) 42 U.S.C. 
§  1983 denial of procedural due process against the 
District; (4) defamation per se against Defendant Divijak 
in her individual capacity; and (5) false light invasion 
of privacy against Defendant Divijak in her individual 
capacity. (Id. at 11–16.) Defendants filed this Motion (Doc. 
38) arguing they are entitled to summary judgment on all 
five counts and the matter has been fully briefed.6 (Doc. 
46 (Response); Doc. 56 (Reply).)

6.  Plaintiff requested oral argument. (Doc. 46 at 1.) The Court 
finds oral argument will not aid in resolution of the issues raised 
and, therefore, denies this request. See LRCiv 7.2(f); Fed. R. Civ. 
P. 78(a); Partridge v. Reich, 141 F.3d 920, 926 (9th Cir. 1998) (“[A] 
district court can decide the issue without oral argument if the 
parties can submit their papers to the court.”); see also Bach v. 
Teton Cnty. Idaho, 207 F. App’x 766, 769 (9th Cir. 2006) (“Due 
process does not require the district court to hold oral argument 
before ruling on pending motions.”).
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II. 	SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Under Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 
upon a party’s motion, a court “shall grant summary 
judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine 
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled 
to judgment as a matter of law.” A genuine dispute exists 
if “the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return 
a verdict for the nonmoving party,” and material facts are 
those “that might affect the outcome of the suit under the 
governing law.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 
242, 248, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 91 L. Ed. 2d 202 (1986).

The movant bears the initial burden of informing the 
court of the basis for its motion for summary judgment and 
of indicating those portions of the record and discovery 
responses that demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue 
of material fact. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323, 
106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986). The movant may 
succeed on a motion for summary judgment by identifying 
the absence of evidence supporting an element of the 
non-movant’s claim if the non-movant bears the burden 
of proof on that claim at trial. Id. at 322–23. The evidence 
of the non-movant is to be taken as true and all justifiable 
inferences are to be drawn in the non-movant’s favor. 
Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255.

III. 	 DISCUSSION

A. 	 Counts I and II—Free Speech Retaliation

Defendants argue they are entitled to summary 
judgment on Counts I and II because Plaintiff cannot 
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satisfy any of the elements required to prevail on a First 
Amendment retaliation claim. (Doc. 38 at 10.) Specifically, 
Defendants argue: (1) “physically touching another person 
is not conduct protected by the First Amendment;” (2) 
“escorting a parent from a school campus and calling 
the police to report an alleged assault would not ‘chill a 
person of ordinary firmness’ from engaging in protected 
activity;” and (3) “there is no connection between any of 
Plaintiff’s speech and her removal from campus.” (Id.) 
According to Defendants, “Plaintiff cannot produce any 
evidence that Divijak or any other District employee 
requested that Plaintiff receive a trespass order from the 
[MPD] based on her speech” rather than the contact she 
made with Divijak. (Id. at 9–10.)

Plaintiff argues a reasonable jury could find the ban 
was substantially motivated by Plaintiff’s criticism of 
the school rather than the physical contact between her 
and Divijak. (Doc. 46 at 16–18.) Plaintiff also argues a 
reasonable jury could conclude Divijak told others Plaintiff 
grabbed and assaulted her “as a pretext to cover up the 
true reason for which Defendants wanted to get rid of 
[Plaintiff]: she was ‘very opinionated,’ and they did not 
like hearing her opinions.” (Id. at 17.)

To prevail on a First Amendment retaliation claim 
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, a plaintiff must show “(1) [she] 
engaged in constitutionally protected activity; (2) the 
defendant’s actions would ‘chill a person of ordinary 
firmness’ from continuing to engage in the protected 
activity; and (3) the protected activity was a substantial 
motivating factor in the defendant’s conduct—i.e., that 
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there was a nexus between the defendant’s actions and an 
intent to chill speech.” Arizona Students’ Ass’n v. Arizona 
Bd. of Regents, 824 F.3d 858, 867 (9th Cir. 2016).7 “Once 
a plaintiff has made such a showing, the burden shifts 
to the [defendant] to show that it would have taken the 
same action even in the absence of the protected conduct.” 
O’Brien v. Welty, 818 F.3d 920, 933 (9th Cir. 2016) (internal 
quotation marks omitted).

With respect to the first element, the Court finds 
Plaintiff engaged in constitutionally protected activity. 
Defendants’ contention Plaintiff did not have a First 
Amendment right to physically touch Divijak (Doc. 38 at 
10) is beside the point. The protected activity that supports 
this retaliation claim is Plaintiff’s exercise of her First 
Amendment right to criticize school officials. Plaintiff 
argues she was banned from the District’s property because 
she made statements criticizing Divijak and the School for 
the poor scheduling of School events and expressing her 
viewpoints about the unwelcoming environment at the 
School. (DSOF ¶ 30; PCSOF ¶ 30.) According to Plaintiff, 
the ban against her was substantially motivated by the 

7.  While the Arizona Constitution is considered to be more 
protective of free speech rights than the Federal Constitution, 
Arizona courts have not explored or defined the contours of that 
more expansive right and, therefore, generally rely on federal 
case law in addressing free speech claims under the Arizona 
constitution. See Brush & Nib Studios, LC v. City of Phoenix, 247 
Ariz. 269, 448 P.3d 890, 902–03 (Ariz. 2019). Because Plaintiff does 
not cite any case or explain why the analysis should be different 
under the Arizona Constitution, (Doc. 46) the court will rely on 
federal law and conduct the same analysis for Counts I and II.
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District’s dislike for her expressed viewpoints “regarding 
event scheduling, overheated busses, children accessing 
pornography on school computers, availability of books 
in the school library, opining that children should be 
allowed to speak to one another in the cafeteria during 
lunch, IEP/504 meeting procedures, proper treatment of 
children with disabilities, special education funding, and 
the like.” (PRSOF ¶ 13, Exh. 4 ¶ 8.)

Speech is generally protected by the First Amendment, 
with restrictions on only certain types of speech, such as 
obscenity, defamation, and fighting words, R.A.V. v. St. 
Paul, 505 U.S. 377, 382–83, 112 S. Ct. 2538, 120 L. Ed. 2d 
305 (1992), none of which is applicable here. Defendants 
have not pointed to any case from the Supreme Court or 
the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals holding that parents 
criticizing school officials is not protected speech. (See 
Doc. 38 at 8–10; Doc. 56 at 2–4.) Indeed, cases from other 
courts seems to suggest the right to criticize public officials 
is protected by the First Amendment. See e.g., Bloch v. 
Ribar, 156 F.3d 673, 678 (6th Cir. 1998) (recognizing First 
Amendment protects citizen’s right to criticize public 
officials and policies); Smith v. Allegheny Valley Sch. 
Dist., No. CV 17-686, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 202075, 
2017 WL 6279345, at *10 (W.D. Pa. Dec. 8, 2017) (parent’s 
critique of school district personnel and their behavior 
is “speech protected by the First Amendment”); Flege v. 
Williamstown Indep. Sch., No. CIVA 06-47-DLB, 2007 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 14631, 2007 WL 679022, at *1, 10 (E.D. 
Ky. Mar. 1, 2007) (parents exercised First Amendment 
rights by criticizing superintendent and school policies).
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With respect to the second element, Defendants’ 
banning of Plaintiff would lead ordinary parents in 
Plaintiff ’s position to refrain from criticizing school 
officials in order to be able to enter the school. The ban 
in this case restricted Plaintiff’s access to her children’s 
School which prevented her from being able to attend, 
among other things, parent-teacher conferences, a science 
fair, and a school fundraiser. (DSOF ¶ 31; PCSOF ¶ 31; 
PRSOF ¶¶ 21–23, Exh. 4 ¶¶ 10–12.) It is entirely plausible 
that a jury could find these actions reasonably likely to 
deter an ordinary person from engaging in protected 
speech.

With respect to the third element, Plaintiff submitted 
enough circumstantial evidence for a reasonable jury to 
find that the decision to ban Plaintiff from the School was 
substantially motivated by her criticism of school officials. 
See Pinard v. Clatskanie Sch. Dist. 6J, No. CIV. 03-172-
HA, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10539, 2008 WL 410097, at 
*5 (D. Or. Feb. 12, 2008) (“As with proof of motive in other 
contexts, this element of a First Amendment retaliation 
suit may be met with either direct or circumstantial 
evidence, and involves questions of fact that normally 
should be left for trial.”) (quoting Ulrich v. City & Cnty. 
of San Francisco, 308 F.3d 968, 979 (9th Cir. 2002)). As 
evidence, Plaintiff references various statements District 
employees made about her on February 7, 2020. (Doc. 
46 at 2–4, 16–18.) First, Plaintiff references Divijak’s 
statements to Officer Ysaguirre that Plaintiff had sent 
her a “pretty hateful email” about a winter performance 
accusing her of “just going through the motions and not 
caring about the School” and that she did not reply to 
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one of Plaintiff’s email expressing complaints because 
it “attacked her personally.” (PRSOF ¶  13, Exh. 7 at 
57:00–57:40, 58:45–1:00:40.) Second, Plaintiff references 
statements Divijak’s secretary made—heard in the 
body-camera footage—characterizing Plaintiff’s speech 
as “a problem all year” and “verbal diarrhea.” (PRSOF 
¶¶  15–16, Exh. 7 at 36:14–36:55.) Divijak’s secretary is 
seen smiling and giggling while saying this. (Id.) Third, 
Plaintiff produced evidence of text messages from two 
Assistant Superintendents describing the “back story” 
of Plaintiff to Superintendent Wilson. (PRSOF ¶¶ 13–14, 
Exh. 9.) Those text messages said, among other things, 
that Plaintiff had “sent some pretty scathing emails to 
[Divijak],” and that Plaintiff was “very opinionated,” 
“not flexible at all,” and “very high maintenance.” (Id.) 
This evidence in the record suggests there was hostility 
and antagonism between Defendants and Plaintiff. Other 
evidence in the record includes Mr. Gute’s characterization 
of the February 7 incident. He told Officer Ysaguirre 
Divijak looked upset while talking to Plaintiff and Divijak 
appeared to have an “exaggerated” reaction to what 
appeared to be a touch of the side of her arm; Mr. Gute 
stated he did not think it was a hit or a grab. (PRSOF ¶ 4, 
Exh. 5 at 5:05–10:15.) Video footage of the interaction does 
not clearly show the extent of the contact.

However, the Court concludes a reasonable jury could 
find that the characterization of the contact between 
Plaintiff and Divijak is a material fact that might affect the 
outcome of the case. A jury could conclude the contact was 
so marginal based on the video footage and the statement 
from Mr. Gute that the real reason the District trespassed 



Appendix B

60a

Plaintiff was due to her speech and not the contact with 
Divijak. Even if Plaintiff had no entitlement to be on 
campus, banning her from campus violated her First 
Amendment rights if Defendants did so with a retaliatory 
motive. See O’Brien, 818 F.3d at 932 (“Otherwise lawful 
government action may nonetheless be unlawful if 
motivated by retaliation for having engaged in activity 
protected under the First Amendment.”). Determining 
Defendants’ motives for their banning decision requires 
resolution of disputed facts, including resolving credibility 
determinations. Viewing the evidence in the light most 
favorable to Plaintiff, Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255, a 
reasonable jury could infer Defendants banned Plaintiff 
because Plaintiff spoke out against and complained about 
how school officials were running the School.8 Therefore, 
the Court will deny Defendants’ Motion for Summary 
Judgment on this argument.

1. 	 Count II is Time Barred

Defendants argue even if Plaintiff could establish 
the elements needed for a First Amendment retaliation 
claim, Count II is time barred because “Plaintiff’s claim 
accrued when she had sufficient information to form a 

8.  Defendants fail to explicitly argue Plaintiff would have 
been banned from the School regardless of her complaints about 
School officials. (Doc. 38 at 8–12; Doc. 56 at 2–4.) For example, 
they do not offer any evidence of other parents being similarly 
banned from campus for similar conduct to help suggest this ban 
would have occurred regardless of prior complaints. Instead, they 
just argue the ban was due to Plaintiff’s physical touching. (See 
Doc. 38 at 8–10.)
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belief that the ban was retaliation for her speech” which 
was “as early as February 7 and no later than February 
24, 2020.” (Doc. 56 at 8.) Plaintiff argues accrual for 
Arizona notice-of-claim purposes is a question for the jury 
and a reasonable jury could conclude she did not become 
unquestionably aware that the District was not going to 
lift her trespass ban until a May 2020 meeting. (Doc. 46 
at 12–13.) In their Reply, Defendants argue “Plaintiff’s 
claim accrued when she had sufficient information to form 
a belief that the ban was retaliation for her speech” and 
“[t]he extent of an injury has no bearing on the existence 
of the injury.” (Doc. 56 at 8.)

Arizona law requires that a notice of claim against a 
public entity or employee be served within one hundred 
eighty days after a cause of action accrues. A.R.S. § 12-
821.01(A). Under the statute, “a cause of action accrues 
when the damaged party realizes he or she has been 
damaged and knows or reasonably should know the cause, 
source, act, event, instrumentality or condition that caused 
or contributed to the damage.” Id. at (B). If the notice of 
claim is not filed within 180 days after accrual, the claim 
is barred. Id. at (A).

“To determine when a cause of action accrues, 
an analysis of the elements of [the cause of action] is 
necessary.” Dube v. Likins, 216 Ariz. 406, 167 P.3d 93, 
98 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2007). The elements of free speech 
retaliation are stated above. A defendant is entitled to 
summary judgment on an untimely claim if there is 
evidence that the plaintiff “unquestionably [was] aware 
of the necessary facts underlying [her] cause of action.” 



Appendix B

62a

Thompson v. Pima Cnty., 226 Ariz. 42, 243 P.3d 1024, 
1029 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2010).

Here, Count II of Plaintiff’s FAC relates to Defendants’ 
alleged retaliation against Plaintiff in violation of the 
Arizona Constitution. (Doc. 16 at 13.) The parties agree 
that 180 days prior to the notice of claim is April 26, 
2020. (Doc. 46 at 13; Doc. 56 at 8.) The Court finds 
Plaintiff unquestionably was aware of the necessary 
facts underlying her First Amendment Retaliation claim 
on February 24. There is no dispute the constitutionally 
protected activity Plaintiff references occurred prior to 
February 24, 2020.9 Plaintiff told the investigating MPD 
officer she had ongoing “conflict” with Divijak “since the 
beginning.” (PRSOF, Exh. 7 at 16:00–16:33.) Plaintiff 
also admitted during her deposition that she formed a 
feeling during the February 24 meeting “that there was 
a First Amendment retaliation [claim] as a result of [her] 
expressing [her] opinions in the past.” (DSOF, Exh. 3 at 
72 (emphasis added).) Because Plaintiff offers no genuine 
dispute of material fact to prevent summary judgment on 
Count II, Defendants are entitled to summary judgment 
as to Count II.

2. 	 Qualified Immunity for Divijak in Count I

Defendant Divijak argues even if Plaintiff could 
survive summary judgment on Count I, she “is immune 

9.   Plaintiff does not specifically state when all her relevant 
complaints against the School were made, but based on the context, 
they all appear to have occurred prior to the ban. (See Doc. 16 
¶¶ 19–32; DSOF, Exh. 12–13 (Dec. 2019 emails).)
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from liability on [this] claim pursuant to the doctrine of 
qualified immunity.” (Doc. 38 at 10.) Specifically, Divijak 
argues Plaintiff fails to identify any case putting her on 
notice that her specific conduct was unlawful. (Doc. 38 at 
11–12; Doc. 56 at 12–13.) Plaintiff argues Divijak is not 
entitled to qualified immunity because the constitutional 
right to be free from retaliation is clearly established and 
Divijak admitted she knew it is not appropriate to retaliate 
against a community member. (Doc. 46 at 18.)

“Qualified immunity shields government actors from 
civil liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 if ‘their conduct does 
not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional 
rights of which a reasonable person would have known.’” 
Castro v. Cnty. of Los Angeles, 833 F.3d 1060, 1066 (9th 
Cir. 2016) (en banc) (quoting Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 
U.S. 800, 818, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982)). 
To determine whether qualified immunity applies, courts 
must consider whether (1) the government official violated 
the plaintiff’s constitutional right and (2) whether that 
right was clearly established at the time of the events 
at issue. Seidner v. de Vries, 39 F.4th 591, 595 (9th Cir. 
2022) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). “A 
right is clearly established when it is ‘sufficiently clear 
that every reasonable official would have understood 
that what he is doing violates that right.’” Rivas-Villegas 
v. Cortesluna, 142 S. Ct. 4, 7, 211 L. Ed. 2d 164 (2021) 
(quoting Mullenix v. Luna, 577 U.S. 7, 11, 136 S. Ct. 305, 
193 L. Ed. 2d 255 (2015)). To be clearly established, there 
must be existing precedent placing the “constitutional 
question beyond debate.” Id. at 7–8. “This inquiry ‘must be 
undertaken in light of the specific context of the case, not 
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as a broad general proposition.’” Id. at 8 (quoting Brosseau 
v. Haugen, 543 U.S. 194, 198, 125 S. Ct. 596, 160 L. Ed. 
2d 583 (2004)). “[T]he plaintiff bears the burden of proof 
regarding whether the right is clearly established” and 
the “defendant must prove that his or her conduct was 
reasonable.” DiRuzza v. Cnty. of Tehama, 206 F.3d 1304, 
1313 (9th Cir. 2000).

The Court concludes Divijak is entitled to qualified 
immunity for the individual capacity claim against her 
in Count I because Plaintiff fails to show the law on this 
issue is clearly established. Plaintiff points to no authority 
that would have put a reasonable official on notice that 
Divijak’s conduct was violating a clearly established right. 
(See Doc. 46 at 18.) Instead, Plaintiff only insufficiently 
and summarily argues the constitutional right to be 
free from retaliation is clearly established. See Hirt v. 
Unified Sch. Dist. No. 287, No. 2:17-CV-02279-HLT, 2019 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 70477, 2019 WL 1866321, at *18 (D. 
Kan. Apr. 24, 2019) (“[M]erely asserting the existence 
of a generic constitutional right is not enough to defeat 
a claim of qualified immunity.”), aff’d sub nom. Clark 
v. Unified Sch. Dist. No. 287, 822 F. App’x 706 (10th 
Cir. 2020); cf. Moran v. Washington, 147 F.3d 839, 847 
(9th Cir. 1998) (“Because the underlying determination 
pursuant to Pickering whether a public employee’s speech 
is constitutionally protected turns on a context-intensive, 
case-by-case balancing analysis, the law regarding 
such claims will rarely, if ever, be sufficiently ‘clearly 
established’ to preclude qualified immunity.”) Therefore, 
Divijak is entitled to summary judgment as to Count I.
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B. 	 Count III—Procedural Due Process under 
Fourteenth Amendment

The District argues, among other things, it is entitled 
to summary judgment on Count III because Plaintiff did 
not have a constitutionally protected liberty interest. (Doc. 
38 at 12–14.) Specifically, the District argues directing the 
education and upbringing of one’s children does not create 
a right to access school property. (Id.) Plaintiff argues 
she had a fundamental liberty interest based on “the 
fundamental right to direct the upbringing and education 
of her children.”10 (Doc. 46 at 4, 7–8.) According to Plaintiff, 
a reasonable jury could conclude the District’s conduct in 
prohibiting Plaintiff from participating in parent-teacher 
conferences and an orientation and placement assessment 
for her preschooler violated this fundamental right. (Id. 
at 7–8.) In its Reply, the District argues Plaintiff cites no 
binding authority holding the right to direct the care and 
upbringing of her children encompasses a right to access 
school property and the Court must decide this issue as 
a matter of law. (Doc. 56 at 5–6.)

10.  Plaintiff also argues her due process claim relates to her 
fundamental liberty interest based on the First Amendment and 
First Amendment speech retaliation. (Doc. 46 at 4.) However, as the 
District points out in its Reply, Plaintiff is raising these claims for 
the first time on her response to a motion for summary judgment. 
(Doc. 56 at 5.) Plaintiff’s FAC clearly states her procedural due 
process claim is based on “her fundamental right to direct the 
education of her children.” (Doc. 16 ¶ 111.) Therefore, the Court 
will limit its analysis to only that liberty interest. See Coleman 
v. Quaker Oats Co., 232 F.3d 1271, 1293 (9th Cir. 2000) (refusing 
to allow plaintiff to “turn around and surprise” defendant with a 
new theory at the summary judgment stage and noting plaintiff 
should have moved to amend the operative complaint).
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Under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth 
Amendment: “No State shall .  .  . deprive any person of 
life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” 
U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. “To obtain relief on § 1983 
claims based upon procedural due process, the plaintiff 
must establish the existence of ‘(1) a liberty or property 
interest protected by the Constitution; (2) a deprivation of 
the interest by the government; [and] (3) lack of process.’” 
Guatay Christian Fellowship v. Cnty. of San Diego, 670 
F.3d 957, 983 (9th Cir. 2011) (quoting Portman v. Cnty. 
of Santa Clara, 995 F.2d 898, 904 (9th Cir. 1993)). A 
procedural due process claim only ripens “when it is clear 
that a distinct deprivation of a constitutionally protected 
interest in liberty or property has already occurred.” 
Id. at 984. In other words, if there is no constitutionally 
protected interest, no due process is required.

Here, Plaintiff cites general cases holding a family 
member has a fundamental right to direct the upbringing 
and education of children under their control. See Troxel 
v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 65, 77, 120 S. Ct. 2054, 147 L. 
Ed. 2d 49 (2000); see also Zelman v. Simmons-Harris, 
536 U.S. 639, 680, 122 S. Ct. 2460, 153 L. Ed. 2d 604 
n. 5 (2002) (Thomas, J., concurring); Johnson v. City of 
Cincinnati, 310 F.3d 484, 499 (6th Cir. 2002). (Doc. 46 
at 7–8.) However, that right is not limitless and Plaintiff 
fails to cite any binding case holding this fundamental 
right extends to a parent’s ability to be on campus.11 (Id.) 

11.  As mentioned above, the Court is not considering cases 
cited by Plaintiff related to the First Amendment or First 
Amendment retaliation (Doc. 46 at 6–7) because Plaintiff’s FAC 
clearly states its procedural due process claim only relates to the 
right to direct her children’s education.
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Indeed, numerous cases suggest otherwise. See e.g., T.L. 
ex rel. Lowry v. Sherwood Charter Sch., No. 03:13-CV-
01562-HZ, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 28818, 2014 WL 897123, 
at *3 (D. Or. Mar. 6, 2014) (“[N]o court has extended a 
parent’s fundamental liberty interest in the care of his 
or her children to a parental right to physically access 
a child’s school.”), aff’d sub nom. Lowry v. Sherwood 
Charter Sch., 691 F. App’x 310 (9th Cir. 2017); Flores v. 
Victory Preparatory Acad., 411 F. Supp. 3d 1149, 1162 (D. 
Colo. 2019) (courts have determined parents do not have 
constitutional right to access school property). Because 
Plaintiff had no constitutional right to access school 
property, no procedural due process was required before 
Plaintiff was banned from the property. See T.L. ex rel. 
Lowry, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 28818, 2014 WL 897123, at 
*3 (finding no procedural due process required regardless 
of purpose of parent’s visit). Therefore, Plaintiff cannot 
successfully bring a § 1983 violation of due process claim 
as a matter of law and the District is entitled to summary 
judgment on Count III.

C. 	 Count IV—Defamation Per Se

Defendant Divijak argues she is entitled to summary 
judgment on Count IV because Plaintiff cannot establish 
a prima facie case for defamation with convincing clarity. 
(Doc. 38 at 18.) Specifically, Divijak argues Plaintiff’s 
defamation claims related to the First and Second 
Documents fail as a matter of law because they are 
either true, substantially true, or unactionable.12 (Id. at 

12.  Defendant Divijak also argues there is insufficient 
evidence that would allow a jury to find she wrote, mailed, or 
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16–18.) She also argues Plaintiff’s alleged defamatory 
oral statement fails as a matter of law because it is 
substantially true that Plaintiff assaulted and grabbed 
Divijak. (Doc. 56 at 10.)

Plaintiff argues a reasonably jury could find there was 
false and defamatory statements in the First and Second 
Documents and when Divijak told District “staff members 
and her husband that [Plaintiff] ‘assaulted’ and ‘grabbed’ 
her.” (Id. at 18–21.)

Under Arizona law, a defamatory publication or 
statement “by a private figure on matters of private 
concern ‘must be false and must bring the defamed person 
into disrepute, contempt, or ridicule, or must impeach [that 
person]’s honesty, integrity, virtue, or reputation.’”13 Sign 
Here Petitions LLC v. Chavez, 243 Ariz. 99, 402 P.3d 457, 
462 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2017) (quoting Turner v. Devlin, 174 
Ariz. 201, 848 P.2d 286, 288–89 (1993)); Takieh v. O’Meara, 
252 Ariz. 51, 497 P.3d 1000, 1006 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2021). 
“To defeat a defendant’s motion for summary judgment 

caused the publication and delivery of the First and Second 
Documents. (Doc. 38 at 16.) For purposes of analysis, the Court 
will assume, without deciding, that Plaintiff presented sufficient 
circumstantial evidence that Defendant Divijak wrote the First 
and Second Documents for Counts IV and V.

13.  Defendant Divijak does not argue she was a public official, 
public figure, or limited public figure that would be subject to 
the actual malice standard. See New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 
376 U.S. 254, 84 S. Ct. 710, 11 L. Ed. 2d 686 (1964) (heightened 
pleading standard requiring Plaintiff to show actual malice in 
certain situations).
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in a defamation case, the plaintiff must present evidence 
‘sufficient to establish a prima facie case with convincing 
clarity.’” Sign Here Petitions LLC, 402 P.3d at 462 
(emphasis added) (quoting Read v. Phoenix Newspapers, 
Inc., 169 Ariz. 353, 819 P.2d 939, 942–43 (Ariz. 1991)). 
This higher burden is imposed “because the expense of 
defending a meritless defamation case could have a chilling 
effect on free speech.” Id.

Before getting to a jury, the trial court must first 
determine “whether, under all the circumstances, a 
statement is capable of bearing a defamatory meaning.” 
Sign Here Petitions LLC, 402 P.3d at 463–64 (quoting 
Yetman v. English, 168 Ariz. 71, 811 P.2d 323, 331 (Ariz. 
1991)) (emphasis in original). If the statement is capable 
of such a meaning, it is actionable, and the jury can decide 
“whether the defamatory meaning of the statement was 
in fact conveyed.” Id. (quoting Yetman, 811 P.2d at 331) 
(emphasis omitted).

The key inquiry for the trial court is whether the 
expression at issue “would reasonably appear to state or 
imply assertions of objective fact.” Yetman, 811 P.2d at 
328. “‘In determining whether speech is actionable, courts 
must additionally consider the impression created by the 
words used as well as the general tenor of the expression, 
from the point of view of the reasonable person’ at the time 
the statement was uttered and under the circumstances it 
was made.” Sign Here Petitions LLC, 402 P.3d at 463–64 
(quoting Yetman, 811 P.2d at 328) (emphasis omitted). 
“[A] statement is not actionable if it is comprised of ‘loose, 
figurative, or hyperbolic language’ that cannot reasonably 
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be interpreted as stating or implying facts ‘susceptible 
of being proved true or false.’” Takieh, 497 P.3d at 1006.

Furthermore, “[s]ubstantial truth is an absolute 
defense to a defamation action in Arizona.” Read, 819 
P.2d at 941. A defendant “need not prove the literal truth 
of every detail” and slight inaccuracies of expression are 
immaterial if the defamatory charge is true in substance. 
Id. When the underlying facts are undisputed, the 
determination of substantial truth is a matter for the 
court. Id.

1. 	 First Document: Criminal Case Docket

The First Document is a copy of the docket in 
Plaintiff’s Criminal Case. (DSOF Exh. 13; PCSOF Exh. 
13.) This Document is dated September 14, 2020 and 
Plaintiff’s supervisor viewed it around October 1, 2020. 
(DSOF ¶¶ 47–48, Exh. 3 at 88; PCSOF ¶¶ 47–48.) Two 
sentences appear on the top right-hand corner. (DSOF 
Exh. 13; PCSOF Exh. 13.) The first sentence states, “This 
occurred at a K-8 school in front of young children.” (Id.) 
The second sentence states, “Doesn’t seem like this is the 
kind of person that should be training teachers let alone 
working with kids.” (Id.)

Defendant argues Plaintiff’s claim regarding this 
First Document fail as a matter of law because the first 
sentence is substantially true and the second sentence 
is an opinion that cannot reasonably be interpreted as 
stating or implying facts susceptible of being proved true 
or false. (Doc. 38 at 16–17.) In response, Plaintiff makes 
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several claims related to this First Document. (Doc. 46 
at 19–21.)

First, Plaintiff argues the First Document falsely 
showed the Criminal Case against Plaintiff was still 
pending because it was delivered after the Criminal Case 
was dismissed and there was “no occurrence of ‘knowingly 
touch w/intent to inj[ure]/insult/provoke.’” (Doc. 46 at 
19–20.) However, regardless of when the First Document 
was received, it was dated September 14, 2020 and the 
criminal charges against Plaintiff were still pending at 
that time. The First Document simply shows what Plaintiff 
was charged with as of that date. Because this is all true, 
the Court finds Plaintiff’s claims on this matter meritless.

Second, Plaintiff argues the first sentence is false 
because “[n]othing ‘occurred .  .  . in front of young 
children.’”14 (Doc. 46 at 18.) The Court finds this portion of 
the first sentence substantially true based on the evidence 
in the record. Although there was no classroom of children, 
Plaintiff admits one child was present and the video 
footage in the record shows children in the background of 
the nearby School hallway where this occurred. (PCSOF 
Exh. 3, Exh. 6 at 130.)

Third, Plaintiff argues a reasonable jury could find the 
second sentence to be false and defamatory because it is “a 
character assassinating statement to her employer.” (Doc. 

14.  Plaintiff does not dispute the portion of the first sentence 
stating the incident related to the Criminal Case occurred at a 
K-8 school.
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46 at 19–20.) The Court finds this statement unactionable 
because it does not reasonably appear to state or imply 
assertions of objective fact. Based on the context of the 
First Document, it appears to state a subjective fact 
related to what type of person should be training teachers 
and working with kids. Therefore, Divijak is entitled to 
summary judgment as to any defamatory statements 
related to the First Document.

2. 	 Second Document: April 23, 2021 Letter to 
University

The Second Document was an unsigned letter dated 
April 23, 2021 stating:

Please be advised that your professor, Rebecca 
I. Hartzell has, for at least the last two (2) 
years, been using her University of Arizona 
email account to harass, bully, intimidate and 
threaten people.

A full audit of her account will verify these 
accusations. Additionally, I have great concern 
about her mental health.

I send this without signature for fear of 
retribution but hope you will take this matter 
seriously.

(Doc. 47-14 at 4) (emphasis in original).

Defendant Divijak argues the first statement in the 
Second Document is unactionable because it is subjective 
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and uses language “that ‘cannot reasonably be interpreted 
as stating or implying facts susceptible of being proved 
true or false’ because those words do not ‘reasonably 
appear to state or imply assertions of objective fact.’” 
(Id. at 17.) Specifically, Divijak argues the “statement 
is not susceptible of being proven true or false because 
each of those words, in context, merely describe how the 
author of the Second Document interpreted Plaintiff’s 
communications.” (Id.) She also argues the statement 
related to an audit of Plaintiff’s account and concerns 
about Plaintiff’s mental health are unactionable because 
they are opinions incapable of being proven true or false. 
(Id. at 17–18.)

In her Response, Plaintiff argues the statement 
regarding mental health “was particularly inflammatory 
given Hartzell’s role in the University of Arizona’s 
Disability and Psychoeducational Studies Department, 
which the author would have known.” (Doc. 46 at 20.) 
Plaintiff does not address any of Defendant’s other 
arguments.15 (Doc. 46 at 18–20.)

The Court finds that the statements in the Second 
Document are not actionable because the “impression 
created by the words” and “the general tenor of the 
expression” do not “reasonably appear to state or imply 
assertions of objective fact.” Yetman, 811 P.2d at 328. 

15.  Defendant argues Plaintiff’s failure to respond to legal 
arguments is sufficient for this Court to grant summary judgment 
in her favor. The Court disagrees but notes that Plaintiff’s failure 
to respond places a burden on this Court and is a practice that 
should be discouraged.
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Therefore, Divijak is entitled to summary judgment as 
to any defamatory statements related to the Second 
Document.

3. 	 Oral Statements to Husband and District 
staff

Defendant Divijak contends there is no actionable 
defamatory oral statement because it is substantially 
true that Plaintiff grabbed and assaulted her. (Doc. 56 at 
10–11.) Specifically, Divijak argues Plaintiff “knowingly 
touched Divijak and the result was that Divijak was 
insulted and provoked.” (Doc. 56 at 10–11.) Plaintiff argues 
a reasonable jury could find Divijak’s statements are false 
and defamatory because she never grabbed or assaulted 
Divijak. (Doc. 46 at 1, 18–19.)

Under Arizona law, a person commits criminal assault 
by “knowingly touching another person with the intent 
to injure, insult or provoke such person.” A.R.S. §  13-
1203(A)(3).

Here, it is undisputed Plaintiff was not convicted of 
assault and that Plaintiff physically touched Divijak during 
a heated discussion. Therefore, the dispute centers around 
whether Plaintiff knowingly touched Divijak and whether 
she did so with the intention to injure, insult, or provoke 
her. It is irrelevant Divijak felt insulted or provoked. 
What is relevant is whether Plaintiff knowingly made 
physical contact with the requisite intention. Given the 
factual disputes about the nature of the contact discussed 
above, the Court cannot conclude the oral statements are 
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substantially true. Cf. Desert Palm Surgical Grp., P.L.C. 
v. Petta, 236 Ariz. 568, 343 P.3d 438, 450 (Ariz. Ct. App. 
2015) (affirming trial court denial of motion for judgment 
as a matter of law because legitimate questions of fact 
existed on defamation claims and jury was in best position 
to resolve material questions of fact). The Court finds 
sufficient evidence in the record for the jury to determine 
“whether the defamatory meaning of the statement was in 
fact conveyed” when Divijak told others Plaintiff grabbed 
and assaulted her. See Sign Here Petitions LLC, 402 P.3d 
at 463–64. Therefore, the Court will deny Divijak’s Motion 
for Summary Judgment on this argument.

D. 	 Count V—False Light Invasion of Privacy

Defendant Divijak argues she is entitled to summary 
judgment on Count V because “it is undisputed that [the 
First and Second Documents were] delivered to only one 
person: Plaintiff’s supervisor in the first instance and the 
University’s Compliance Office in the second.” (Doc. 38 at 
19.) Divijak also argues Plaintiff has not produced facts to 
show Divijak’s oral statements “were made to a sufficient 
number of people that they were certain to become public 
knowledge.” (Doc. 56 at 12.) According to Divijak, “This 
limited publication is insufficient to establish a false light 
invasion of privacy claim.” (Doc. 38 at 19.)

Plaintiff argues there was widespread publication 
because these statements were “promulgated widely 
within [the District] and to the public University,” 
and a District “employee also stated, ‘I’m sure it’s all 
over Facebook already.’” (Doc. 46 at 20.) In her Reply, 
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Defendant Divijak argues Plaintiff’s claim is “general and 
unsupported” and is not sufficient to overcome summary 
judgment because Plaintiff has not produced any facts 
to show that any comments were made to enough people. 
(Doc. 56 at 11–12.)

Under Arizona law, the tort of false light invasion of 
privacy occurs when: One who gives publicity to a matter 
concerning another that places the other before the public 
in a false light is subject to liability to the other for invasion 
of his privacy, if

(a)  the false light in which the other was 
placed would be highly offensive to a reasonable 
person, and

(b)  the actor had knowledge of or acted in 
reckless disregard as to the falsity of the 
publicized matter and the false light in which 
the other would be placed.

Godbehere, 783 P.2d at 784 (quoting Restatement (Second) 
of Torts § 652(E) (1977)).

In order to establish publicity in a false light claim, the 
matter at issue must be made public “by communicating 
it to the public at large, or to so many persons that the 
matter must be regarded substantially certain to become 
one of public knowledge.” Hart v. Seven Resorts Inc., 
190 Ariz. 272, 947 P.2d 846, 854 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1997) 
(emphasis omitted) (quoting Restatement (Second) of 
Torts §§ 652(D), (E)). Plaintiff must produce evidence that 
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would allow a reasonable juror to find in her favor on the 
issue to survive summary judgment. Id. at 855.

To establish the publicity element, Plaintiff relies 
on Divijak’s deposition testimony and the investigating 
officer’s body-camera footage where Divijak admits telling 
Ms. Sternberg, Mr. McKenna, and her husband that 
Plaintiff assaulted and intentionally grabbed her. (See 
Doc. 46 at 18–20 (citing PRSOF ¶¶ 7, 66–68).) Plaintiff 
also references a statement—heard in the body-camera 
footage—of a District employee saying, “I’m sure its all 
over Facebook already.” (See Doc. 46 at 18–20 (citing 
PRSOF ¶¶ 7, 66–68, 70).) However, as Defendant points 
out, other than this statement, Plaintiff produced no 
evidence showing news of this incident was all over 
Facebook or any other social media. Plaintiff also does not 
identify anyone within the University who learned of this 
matter other than Plaintiff’s employer who received the 
First Document and the University employee who looked 
at the Second Document. The Courts finds Plaintiff’s 
evidence insufficient to establish that the matter at issue 
was communicated to so many people that the “matter 
must be regarded substantially certain to become one 
of public knowledge.” Because Plaintiff fails to meet the 
publicity element as a matter of law, Defendant is entitled 
to summary judgment as to Count V.

IV. 	CONCLUSION

Accordingly,

IT IS ORDERED Defendants’ Motion for Summary 
Judgment (Doc. 38) is GRANTED as to Counts II, III, 
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and V and GRANTED in-part as to Counts I and IV. 
Defendant Divijak is entitled to summary judgment on 
the individual capacity claim against her in Count I based 
on qualified immunity. She is also entitled to summary 
judgment on any defamation claims in Count IV related 
to the First and Second Documents.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED Defendants’ Motion 
for Summary Judgment (Doc. 38) is DENIED in-part as 
to Count I and IV. Count I remains against the District 
and the defamatory oral statements in Count IV remain 
against Defendant Divijak.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED the parties shall file 
a Joint Proposed Pretrial Order within 30 days of this 
Order. (See Doc. 24 (Scheduling Order).)

Dated this 8th day of March, 2023.

/s/ Scott H. Rash 
Honorable Scott H. Rash 

United States District Judge
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APPENDIX C — ORDER OF THE UNITED STATES  
DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA, 

FILED JULY 24, 2023

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

No. CV-21-00062-TUC-SHR

REBECCA HARTZELL, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MARANA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, et al., 

Defendants.

Filed July 24, 2023

ORDER RE: PLAINTIFF’S MOTION TO AMEND 
SCHEDULING ORDER AND FOR LEAVE TO 

FILE SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT

Pending before the Court is a “Motion to Amend 
Scheduling Order and for Leave to File Second Amended 
Complaint” (Doc. 65) (the “Motion”) filed by Plaintiff 
Rebecca Hartzell. The Motion has been fully briefed.1 
(Docs. 65–67.) For the reasons below, the Motion is 
granted-in part and denied-in part.

1.  Plaintiff withdrew her oral argument request for this 
Motion at the June 7 status conference. (Doc. 68.)
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I. 	 FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiff began this action on February 4, 2021 (Doc. 
1) and filed her First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) in April 
2021 (Doc. 16). On October 4, 2021, the Court entered its 
Scheduling Order (Doc. 24), which set January 7, 2022 
as the deadline to join parties and amend pleadings, and 
April 8, 2022 as the close of discovery. (Doc. 24 at 1–2.) The 
close of discovery was briefly extended once, to April 29, 
2022. (Doc. 32.) Plaintiff’s FAC raised the following five 
counts: (1) 42 U.S.C. § 1983 first amendment retaliation 
against all Defendants; (2) Ariz. Const. art. II, § 6 free 
speech retaliation against all Defendants; (3) 42 U.S.C. 
§ 1983 denial of procedural due process against Marana 
Unified School District (the “District”); (4) defamation per 
se against Defendant Divijak in her individual capacity; 
and (5) false light invasion of privacy against Defendant 
Divijak in her individual capacity. (Doc. 16 at 11–17.)

On May 27, 2022, Defendants filed a motion for 
summary judgment on all five counts. (Doc. 38.) On March 
9, 2023, the Court entered partial summary judgment 
granting summary judgment in favor of Defendants in full 
as to Counts two, three, and five of the FAC, and in part as 
to Counts one and four. (Doc. 59.) On April 17, the parties 
filed a Joint Proposed Pretrial Order. (Doc. 63.) On April 
24, the Court set a half-hour pretrial conference on June 
7 to discuss trial dates, deadlines, settlement prospects, 
and set a date for the final pretrial conference. (Doc. 64.) 
On May 18, Plaintiff filed this Motion seeking to amend 
the FAC in three ways. (Doc. 65 at 2.)
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II. 	LEGAL STANDARD

“When a party seeks to amend its pleading after 
the date specified in the scheduling order has passed, 
the party must first satisfy the requirements of Rule 
16, and then must demonstrate amendment is proper 
under Rule 15.” See Acosta v. Austin Elec. Servs. LLC, 
325 F.R.D. 325, 328 (D. Ariz. 2018) (citing Johnson v. 
Mammoth Recreations, Inc., 975 F.2d 604, 608 (9th 
Cir. 1992)).

Rule 16(b)(4), Fed. R. Civ. P., allows a scheduling 
order to “be modified only for good cause and with the 
judge’s consent.” The purpose of Rule 16 is to eliminate 
poor case management. Johnson, 975 F.2d at 610. The 
good cause standard “primarily considers the diligence 
of the party seeking the amendment” and “the focus 
of the inquiry is upon the moving party’s reasons for 
seeking modification.” Id. at 609. “Carelessness is not 
compatible with a finding of diligence” and if the moving 
“party was not diligent, the inquiry should end.” Id. 
When determining diligence, a court may look to

(1) the party’s diligence in assisting the court in 
creating a workable Rule 16 order; (2) whether 
the party’s noncompliance with a Rule 16 
deadline occurred because of the development 
of matters which could not have been reasonably 
foreseen or anticipated at the time of the Rule 
16 scheduling conference; and (3) whether the 
party was diligent in seeking amendment of 
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the Rule 16 order once it became apparent the 
party could not comply.

Acosta, 325 F.R.D. at 328.

Rule 15(a)(2), Fed. R. Civ. P., allows a party to amend 
a complaint but “only with the opposing party’s written 
consent or the court’s leave.” The purpose of Rule 15 is 
“to facilitate decision on the merits, rather than on the 
pleadings or technicalities.” Nunes v. Ashcroft, 375 F.3d 
805, 808 (9th Cir. 2004) (internal quotation marks and 
citation omitted). “The court should freely give leave when 
justice so requires,” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2), and “requests 
for leave should be granted with extreme liberality,” 
Moss v. U.S. Secret Serv., 572 F.3d 962, 972 (9th Cir. 
2009) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). 
However, leave to amend will not automatically be granted 
and the decision to grant leave to amend remains within 
“the sound discretion of the trial court.” See Pisciotta v. 
Teledyne Indus., Inc., 91 F.3d 1326, 1331 (9th Cir. 1996).

“In assessing the propriety of a motion for leave 
to amend, [courts] consider five factors: (1) bad faith; 
(2) undue delay; (3) prejudice to the opposing party; (4) 
futility of amendment; and (5) whether the plaintiff has 
previously amended his complaint.” Nunes, 375 F.3d at 
808. “Prejudice to the opposing party .  .  . carries the 
greatest weight,” Eminence Capital, LLC v. Aspeon, Inc., 
316 F.3d 1048, 1052 (9th Cir. 2003), and the opposing party 
bears the burden of showing prejudice, DCD Programs, 
Ltd. v. Leighton, 833 F.2d 183, 187 (9th Cir. 1987).
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“Futility alone can justify the denial of a motion for 
leave to amend.” Nunes, 375 F.3d at 808. However, leave 
to amend should be denied as futile “only if no set of facts 
can be proved under the amendment to the pleadings that 
would constitute a valid and sufficient claim or defense.” 
Sweaney v. Ada County, 119 F.3d 1385, 1393 (9th Cir. 1997) 
(quoting Miller v. Rykoff-Sexton, Inc., 845 F.2d 209, 214 
(9th Cir. 1988)).

III. 	 DISCUSSION

Plaintiff argues there is good cause to modify the 
scheduling order because she was diligent and the Rule 
15 factors warrant granting her leave to amend her FAC. 
(Doc. 65 at 5–8; Doc. 67.) Defendant argues Plaintiff’s 
Motion should be denied because she “seeks to remedy 
three errors that are nothing more than a result of her 
own oversight over the past two years.” (Doc. 66 at 1.) The 
Court will address each proposed amendment, in turn.

A. 	 Amending Due-Process Claim

First, Plaintiff seeks to “add language to Paragraph 
112 to further underscore that the Due Process claim 
included and includes First Amendment speech and 
speech retaliation as predicate fundamental rights that 
the District Defendant violated (and for which Plaintiff 
was deprived Due Process).” (Doc. 65 at 2.) Plaintiff argues 
the Court “took Defendants’ argument too far” on its 
motion for summary judgment ruling and “overreached by 
refusing to consider any of Plaintiff’s First Amendment 
cases” when considering her due-process claim. (Id. at 
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15–16.) According to Plaintiff, if “the Court considered 
Plaintiff ’s free speech cases on summary judgment, 
Plaintiff believes . . . the Court would not have granted 
judgment on the Due Process claim.” (Id. at 16.)

1. 	 Rule 16

Plaintiff argues she was diligent because she filed this 
Motion “within a matter of weeks after discovering the 
new information.” (Doc. 65 at 7.)

Defendants argue Plaintiff was not diligent because 
she could have added the proposed language in her initial 
and First Amended complaint and she is simply trying to 
“circumvent and reargue a claim that has already been 
decided.” (Doc. 66 at 8–9.) According to Defendants, 
Plaintiff should have filed a motion for reconsideration 
or appeal because a “motion for leave to amend is not the 
proper avenue to overturn an adverse ruling.” (Id. at 7.)

In her Reply, Plaintiff argues, among other things, the 
Court can correct an error under Rule 54(b) and Rule 60(a) 
of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. (Doc. 67 at 2–3.)

Here, the Court finds Plaintiff was diligent in assisting 
the Court to create a workable Rule 16 order and the 
summary judgment ruling could not be foreseen at the 
time of the Rule 16 scheduling conference. However, 
Plaintiff waited over two months after the Court’s 
summary judgment ruling to raise this issue. If Plaintiff 
believes the Court erred in its interpretation of the 
pleadings, she should have raised the issue in a motion for 
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reconsideration. Plaintiff does not explain why a motion for 
reconsideration was not filed and the typical time to file a 
timely motion for reconsideration has long since passed. 
See LRCiv 7.2(g) (“Absent good cause shown, any motion 
for reconsideration shall be filed no later than fourteen 
(14) days after the date of the filing of the Order that is 
the subject of the motion.) Plaintiff also did not indicate 
in its Joint Proposed Pretrial Order—filed over a month 
after the summary judgment ruling—that she intended 
to raise an issue related to the summary judgment ruling. 
(See Doc. 63 at 11.) Although the Court, may possibly 
be able to correct issues under Rule 54(b) or 60(a) as 
Plaintiff suggests, the Court finds it troubling Plaintiff 
choose to wait over two months, rather than address the 
issue shortly after the ruling was docketed. As such, the 
Court finds Plaintiff was not diligent with respect to the 
due-process claim and there is not good cause to amend 
the scheduling order. Because Plaintiff did not meet her 
burden to show “good cause” under Rule 16(b), the Court 
need not analyze whether the Court should grant leave 
to amend the FAC under Rule 15(a). Therefore, Plaintiff’s 
Motion is denied with respect to amending the due-process 
claim. Nonetheless, the Court will also address why 
Plaintiff’s arguments with respect to this claim also fail 
under Rule 15.

2. 	 Rule 15

Plaintiff argues amending the FAC would not 
prejudice Defendants, there is no bad faith or undue delay 
on her behalf, and the only “prior amendment was made 
early and voluntarily, as a matter of course.” (Doc. 65 
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at 8.) Specifically, Plaintiff argues there is no prejudice 
because the amendment “simply clarif[ies]” a claim that 
has “existed in this case since the beginning.” (Id. at 9.) 
Furthermore, Plaintiff argues there is no trial date set 
and she “believes these amendments will not impact the 
case schedule, at all (and no trial has been set).” (Id. at 
7–8.)

Defendants argue “giving Plaintiff a second chance to 
argue a claim that has already been briefed and argued 
would certainly prejudice Defendants.” (Doc. 66 at 9.)

In her Reply, Plaintiff argues Defendants conceded 
the Court made an error in summary judgment and “it 
is less prejudicial to everyone” to correct the issue now 
rather than on appeal. (Doc. 67 at 1–3, 6–7.)

The Court finds no such concession from Defendants 
and finds amendment would be improper under Rule 15. 
The Court ruled against Plaintiff on this issue and allowing 
an amendment would clearly prejudice Defendants 
because it would negate the benefit of the Court’s entry of 
summary judgment in their favor. See Kimble v. Marvel 
Enters., No. CV 08-372-TUC-DCB, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
135708, 2010 WL 11515207, at *3 (D. Ariz. Apr. 8, 2010) 
(finding prejudice because granting leave to amend would 
involve, among other things, another wave of dispositive 
motions). Although Plaintiff is correct a trial had not been 
set when this Motion was filed, a pretrial conference had 
already been scheduled to set a trial date. But for this 
Court’s administrative practice of setting a trial date at 
the pretrial conference, this case would already have a 
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firm trial date when this Motion was filed. Even though 
trial is set to begin on November 14, the case is ready 
for trial now. Adding a further round of briefing and oral 
argument may prolong the matter even further and delay 
the matter even more in light of the Court’s busy calendar. 
Therefore, Plaintiff’s arguments with respect to this claim 
also fail under Rule 15. See Eminence Capital, LLC, 316 
F.3d at 1052 (“Prejudice to the opposing party . . . carries 
the greatest weight.”).

B. 	 Amending Injunctive Relief2

Second, Plaintiff seeks to add the following permanent 
injunctive relief language in the prayer for relief section: 
“A permanent injunction ordering Defendants to lift 
the ban on Plaintiff and for Defendants to refrain from 
asserting that Plaintiff grabbed or assaulted Defendant 
Divijak.” (Doc. 67-2 at 19.)

The following is the language in the prayer for relief 
section of the FAC:

WHEREFORE, Dr. Hartzell requests that the 
Court enter Judgment in favor of Dr. Hartzell 

2.  Defendants argue Plaintiff’s claim fails to comply with 
LRCiv 15.1 because the injunctive relief language is not included 
anywhere in her proposed Second Amended Complaint. (Doc. 
66 at 6–7.) Plaintiff admits she failed to include the injunction 
language in the Proposed Second Amended Complaint. (Doc. 67 
n.4.) Because it was clear what language Plaintiff sought to include 
and she fixed this issue in her Reply, the Court will disregard 
this error.
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as follows:

1.  An award of presumed, special, and general 
damages;

2.  An award of the reasonable costs and 
expenses of this action, including attorney’s 
fees, in accordance with 42 U.S.C. § 1988 and 
A.R.S. § 41-1493.01(D);

3.  An award of interest on any award of 
damages, attorneys’ fees and/or costs at the 
highest rate allowable by law; and

4.  Any additional relief, in law or equity, as 
this Court deems just and proper.

(Doc. 16. at 17–18.)

1. 	 Rule 16

Plaintiff argues at the time she filed her FAC, she 
“understood her FAC would entitle her to appropriate 
injunctive relief in addition to money damages.” (Doc. 
65 at 6.) According to Plaintiff, this amendment “merely 
add[s] clarification.” (Id.)

Defendants appear to argue Plaintiff was not diligent 
in this regard because Plaintiff is seeking to remedy an 
error that was “a result of her own oversight over the past 
two years.” (Doc. 66 at 2.)



Appendix C

89a

In her Reply, Plaintiff argues Defendants “have not 
rebutted [her] argument and authority showing that 
these claims already “impliedly existed” in the operative 
pleading and that ‘no magic words’ were required.” (Doc. 
67 at 5.)

Here, the Court finds Plaintiff was diligent in assisting 
the Court to create a workable Rule 16 order. However, 
Plaintiff does not meaningfully explain how noncompliance 
on this issue occurred “because of the development of 
matters which could not have been reasonably foreseen 
or anticipated at the time of the Rule 16 scheduling 
conference.” See Acosta, 325 F.R.D. at 328. Based on 
Defendant’s arguments it is unclear what “development of 
matters” have occurred since the scheduling conference 
to make amendment appropriate. Plaintiff concedes 
the language was not expressly in the FAC but argues 
“[i]t is obvious from the FAC that [she] believed the 
unconstitutional trespass was in retaliation to her First 
Amendment rights, that she wanted it to stop, that it was 
continuing in time (i.e. ‘indefinitely banning’), and that 
Defendants’ misconduct would deter future speech.” (Doc. 
65 at 9–10.) Instead of including express language in the 
prayer for relief section, Plaintiff relies on several other 
paragraphs scattered throughout the FAC to say this 
relief was “obvious.” (Id. at 10.) The Court finds Plaintiff’s 
argument unpersuasive because it appears Plaintiff could 
have reasonably foreseen or anticipated this as an issue 
at the time of the Rule 16 scheduling conference because 
this language is not in the prayer for relief section.



Appendix C

90a

Plaintiff also does not meaningfully explain when “it 
became apparent [she] could not comply” with the Rule 16 
Order and how she was diligent in seeking amendment. See 
id. Plaintiff did not indicate in the Joint Proposed Pretrial 
Order—filed over a month after the summary judgment 
ruling—that she intended to raise an issue related to the 
prayer for relief. (See Doc. 63 at 11.) The first time the 
Court heard about this issue was when this Motion was 
filed in May 2023—approximately fourth months after the 
deadline to amend the FAC. As such, the Court does not 
find Plaintiff was diligent with respect to the injunctive-
relief claim and there is not good cause to amend the 
scheduling order. Because Plaintiff’s claim fails for lack 
of diligence, the Court will not address this issue under 
Rule 15. See Johnson, 975 F.2d at 610 (“Carelessness is not 
compatible with a finding of diligence” and if the moving 
“party was not diligent, the inquiry should end.”)

C. 	 Amending Spouse for Community Property 
Purposes

Third, Plaintiff seeks to add “Joseph Divijak (spouse of 
Defendant Andrea Divijak) solely for Arizona community 
property purposes, in connection with collection and 
judgment enforcement.” (Doc. 65 at 2.) Specifically, 
Plaintiff seeks to add the following text in the FAC section 
describing the parties:

Joseph Divijak is and was, at relevant times, the 
spouse of Divijak. At relevant times, Divijak’s 
conduct complained of herein was performed 
on behalf and for the benefit of the Martial 
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Community comprised of Joseph Divijak and 
Andrea Divijak. Joseph Divijak is named in this 
suit solely as Divijak’s spouse, for collection and 
judgment enforcement purposes.

(Doc. 65-3 ¶ 3.)

1. 	 Rule 16

Plaintiff argues she was diligent and “timely 
sought information regarding the District indemnifying 
Defendant Divijak” because “[t]he need for adding 
Defendant Div[ij]ak’s spouse as a co-defendant was 
not apparent until Defense counsel’s recent email on 
April 13, 2023, stating that Defendant Divijak ‘would be 
uncollectable.’” (Doc. 65 at 5–6.) Plaintiff argues at the 
time the FAC was filed, she “had good reason to believe 
.  .  . Defendant Divijak’s liabilities would be satisfied by 
her employer, the District, and/or its insurer, because it 
is generally known within this district that the District 
(along with its school principals) is insured.” (Id. at 6.) 
According to Plaintiff, she “timely sought information 
regarding the District indemnifying Defendant Divijak, 
which appeared to be answered in the affirmative by the 
District during its deposition.” (Doc. 65 at 5–6; Doc. 65-3 
at 6–8.)

Defendants argues Plaintiff was not diligent because 
Plaintiff was aware of Defendant Divijak’s marital status 
“prior to the inception of this case” and failed to add Mr. 
Divijak to the case or “seek information regarding Ms. 
Divijak’s insurance” for over two years. (Doc. 66 at 5–6.)
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In her Reply, Plaintiff argues Defendant did not 
address her argument that she had reasonably believed 
Defendant Divijak would be indemnified based on her 
general understanding of the District’s indemnification 
coverage and the District representative’s deposition 
statement. (Doc. 67 at 5.) Plaintiff also argues Defendants 
should have provided a copy of the indemnity agreement 
in May 2021—the deadline for initial disclosures. (Id. at 
5–6; see also Doc. 23.)

Here, the Court finds Plaintiff was diligent in 
assisting the Court to create a workable Rule 16 order. 
The Court also finds Plaintiff’s noncompliance with the 
Rule 16 deadline “occurred because of the development 
of matters which could not have been reasonably foreseen 
or anticipated at the time of the Rule 16 scheduling 
conference” because Plaintiff did not have a copy of the 
indemnity agreement until a few weeks prior to filing this 
Motion.3 Acosta, 325 F.R.D. at 328. (Doc. 67 at 6.)

3.  Defendants do not dispute Plaintiff ’s assertion the 
indemnity agreement was not disclosed until May 2023. (See Doc. 
65 n.2; Doc. 66 at 5–6.) The Court finds the indemnity agreement 
should have been disclosed during initial disclosures under 
Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(iv), Fed. R. Civ. P., but Plaintiff appears to have 
not brought it to the attention of the other party or the Court 
until recently. The better practice would be to add a spouse for 
community property purposes at the outset of the case in case 
that spouse needs to be named for collection purposes; however, 
it is possible Divijak’s spouse does not need to be added to the 
case for collection purposes as Plaintiff contends. (See Doc 67 n.6.)



Appendix C

93a

Defendants do not dispute Plaintiff’s claim she notified 
Defendants, within three days of the April 13 email, that 
she would seek to amend Defendant Divijak’s spouse and 
she included this issue in the Joint Proposed Final Pretrial 
Order. (Doc. 65 at 7.) Therefore, the Court finds Plaintiff 
“was diligent in seeking amendment of the Rule 16 order 
once it became apparent the party could not comply.” 
Acosta, 325 F.R.D. at 328.

2. 	 Rule 15

Plaintiff argues the Court should grant leave to 
amend under the liberal Rule 15 standard. (Doc. 65 at 7.) 
First, Plaintiff argues “[t]his Motion is not being made 
in bad faith as a dilatory maneuver.” (Id. at 8.) Second, 
Plaintiff argues there is no undue delay on her behalf. (Id.) 
Third, Plaintiff argues there is no prejudice because this 
amendment “will not impact the case schedule” and “[i]t 
is highly unlikely that Mr. Divijak will be surprised about 
this lawsuit, the claims in it, or that he would complain 
about or add to the way his spouse, Defendant Divijak, has 
been defending the claims against her in this case, to the 
extent they could affect their marital community.” (Id. at 
8.) Fourth, Plaintiff argues the amendment “is not futile 
as a matter of law because the remaining claims against 
Defendant Divijak are not futile (as evidenced by their 
surviving Defendants’ summary judgment motion).” (Id. 
at 9.) Fifth, Plaintiff argues “the one prior amendment 
was made early and voluntarily, as a matter of course, 
in favor of the defense by narrowing parties and claims 
after meeting and conferring with defense counsel.” (Id.)
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Defendants argue justice does not require the Court 
to grant leave to amend for this issue because “Plaintiff 
has already amended her complaint once,” and “Plaintiff 
has failed to provide an adequate explanation for the 
delay. . . .” (Doc. 66 at 6.)

Here, the Courts finds there is no evidence of bad faith 
or undue delay on this issue. The Court finds no prejudice 
because Defendants fail to argue this factor. See Leighton, 
833 F.2d at 187 (the opposing party bears the burden of 
showing prejudice). Although Plaintiff previously amended 
the complaint, it was only amended once early in the case 
and it was done, at Defendants’ request, after the parties 
met and conferred. In sum, the factors weigh in favor of 
permitting Defendant Divijak’s spouse to be added to the 
FAC. Thus, the Court exercises its discretion to permit 
Plaintiff to file the Second Amendment Complaint adding 
the language involving Defendant Divijak’s spouse.

IV. 	CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing,

IT IS ORDERED Plaintiff ’s “Motion to Amend 
Scheduling Order and for Leave to File Second Amended 
Complaint” (Doc. 65) is granted-in part. Plaintiff is 
allowed to file a Second Amended Complaint adding 
the proposed language for community spouse purposes. 
Plaintiff must also remove all other claims that have 
previously been dismissed.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED Plaintiff’s “Motion to 
Amend Scheduling Order and for Leave to File Second 
Amended Complaint” (Doc. 65) is denied-in part. Plaintiff 
may not add the proposed language for the due-process 
claim or the injunctive-relief claim.

Dated this 20th day of July, 2023.

/s/ Scott H. Rash 
Honorable Scott H. Rash 

United States District Judge
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APPENDIX D — RELEVANT CONSTITUTIONAL 
PROVISIONS INVOLVED

U.S. CONSTITUTION, FIRST AMENDMENT

Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment 
of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or 
abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the 
right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition 
the Government for a redress of grievances.

U.S. CONSTITUTION, FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT 

Section 1

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, 
and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the 
United States and of the State wherein they reside. No 
State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the 
privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; 
nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, 
or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any 
person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the 
laws.

Section 2

Representatives shall be apportioned among the 
several States according to their respective numbers, 
counting the whole number of persons in each State, 
excluding Indians not taxed. But when the right to vote 
at any election for the choice of electors for President and 
Vice-President of the United States, Representatives in 
Congress, the Executive and Judicial officers of a State, 
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or the members of the Legislature thereof, is denied to 
any of the male inhabitants of such State, being twenty-
one years of age, and citizens of the United States, or in 
any way abridged, except for participation in rebellion, or 
other crime, the basis of representation therein shall be 
reduced in the proportion which the number of such male 
citizens shall bear to the whole number of male citizens 
twenty- one years of age in such State.

Section 3

No person shall be a Senator or Representative in 
Congress, or elector of President and Vice-President, or 
hold any office, civil or military, under the United States, 
or under any State, who, having previously taken an oath, 
as a member of Congress, or as an officer of the United 
States, or as a member of any State legislature, or as an 
executive or judicial officer of any State, to support the 
Constitution of the United States, shall have engaged in 
insurrection or rebellion against the same, or given aid or 
comfort to the enemies thereof. But Congress may by a 
vote of two-thirds of each House, remove such disability.

Section 4

The validity of the public debt of the United States, 
authorized by law, including debts incurred for payment 
of pensions and bounties for services in suppressing 
insurrection or rebellion, shall not be questioned. But 
neither the United States nor any State shall assume or 
pay any debt or obligation incurred in aid of insurrection 
or rebellion against the United States, or any claim for 
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the loss or emancipation of any slave; but all such debts, 
obligations and claims shall be held illegal and void.

Section 5

The Congress shall have power to enforce, by 
appropriate legislation, the provisions of this article.
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